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Independent Auditors Report

To the Members of Duet India Hotels {Jaipur) Private Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited {the "Company")
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2024, and the statement of profit and loss (including
other comprehensive income), statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
aforesaid financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 ("Act’) in the
manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally
accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2024, and its profit and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under
Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the
provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the financial statements.

Management’s and Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements

The Company's Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in Section
134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs, profit/ loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of
the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under Section 133 of the Act. This responsibility also
includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for
safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of
the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give
a true and fair view and are free from material misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management and Board of Directors are responsible for
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
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BSR&Co. LLP

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstaterments can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
invoive collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i} of the Act, we are also responsible
for expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

+ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Management and Board of Directors.

*  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management and Board of Directors use of the going concern
basis of accounting in preparation of financial statements and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Company's ability to continue as a going concem. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a gaing concern.

*  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financiat statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

Other Matter

a. The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 were audited by the
predecessor auditor who had expressed an unmodified opinion on 17 August 2023.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”) issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give in the “Annexure A" a statement
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BSR&Co. LLP

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.
2 A. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

a.

0

(i

We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so
far as it appears from our examination of thasebooks, except for the following:

the back-up of books of accounts and other relevant books and papers in electronic mode was
not maintained on the servers physically located in India on a daily basis with respect to
accounting software used for maintaining-

revenue accounting during 1 April 2023 to 20 April 2023,

_ procurement and general ledger during 1 Aprit 2023 to 23 March 2024
general ledger accounting during 1 April 2023 to 23 August 2023; and
revenue process during 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024

in the absence of sufficient and appropriate reporting on compliance with the back up
requirements in the independent auditor's report of service organisation in relation to payroll
process operated by third party service provider, we are unable to comment on whether the back-
up of books of accounts and other relevant books and papers in electronic made relevant to the
said process was maintained on the servers physically jocated in India on a daily basis for the
period from 1 December 2023 to 31 March 2024,

{iii) matters stated in the paragraph 2B(f) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies

(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

The balance sheet, the statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income}, the
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows dealt with by this Report are in
agreement with the books of account.

In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Ind AS specified under Section
133 of the Act.

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 01 April 2024 taken
on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 March 2024
from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

the qualification relating to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith
are as stated in the paragraph 2A(b) above on reporting under Section 143(3}(b} and paragraph
2B(f) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

With respect to the adequacy of the intemal financial controls with reference to financial
statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate
Report in “Annexure B".

With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of

the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to the explanations given to us:

a,
b.

The Company does not have any pending litigations which would impact its financial position.

The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there
were any material foreseeable losses.

There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and
Pratection Fund by the Company.

d (iii) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and befief, as disclosed in
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BSR&Co.LLP

Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

the Note 33(vi) to the financial statements, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested
(either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the
Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities ("Intermediaries’),
with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall
directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever
by or on behalf of the Company (*Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or
the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

{ii) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in

the Note 33(vii) to the financial statements, no funds have been received by the Company from
any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities ("Funding Parties”), with the understanding,
whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall directly or indirectly, lend or
invest in other persons or entittes identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the
Funding Parties ("Ultimate Beneficiaries™) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf
of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(iiiy Based on the audit procedures that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the

circumstances performed, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the
representations under sub-clause (i) and (ii) of Rule 11(e), as provided under (i) and (i} above,
contain any material misstatement.

The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividend during the year.

Based on our examination which included test checks, except for the instances mentioned below,
the Company has used accounting softwares for maintaining its books of accounts, which has a
feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated throughout the period
for all relevant transactions recorded in the respeciive softwares:

In case of one of the accounting software used for maintaining the books of account relating to
revenue process, due fo system limitation to validate configuration of the feature of recording
audit trail (edit log) facility of the said software, we are unable to comment on whether the audit
trail (edit log) facility of the said software was enabled and whether it operated throughout the
year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software.

In the absence of sufficient and appropriate reporting on compliance with the audit trail
requirement in the independent auditor's report of service organisation from 1 December 2023 to
31 December 2023 and in the absence of independent auditor's report in relation to controls at
the said service organization from 1 January 2024 to 31 March 2024 for an accounting software
used for maintaining the books of account relating to payroll process, which is operated by third-
party software service provider, we are unable to comment whether audit trail feature for the said
software was enabled and operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in
the software.

The feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility was not enabled at the database level to log
any direct data changes for one of the accounting software used for maintaining the books of
account relating to revenue, procurement and General Ledger.

Further, for the periods where audit trail (edit log) facility was enabled and operated for the
respective accounting softwares, we did not come across any instance of the audit trail feature
being tampered with except that in case of one of the accounting software used for maintaining
general ledger for the period 1 April 2023 to 6 February 2024, due to limitations in the system
configuration, we are unable to comment whether there were any instances of the audit trail
feature being tampered with.

A
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BSR&Co. LLP

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

C. With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditor's Report under Section 197(16) of the Act:

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not
paid any remuneration to its directors during the year. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not
prescribed other details under Section 197(16) of the Act which are required to be commented upon

by us.
ForBSR&Co.LLP

Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

Anbush Ak

Ankush Goel

Partner

Place: Gurugram Membership No.: 505121
Date: 29 May 2024 ICAI UDIN:24505121BKGXDP9383
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024

(Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

() (@) (A) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative

details and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment.

{B) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible assets.

(i} (b)

{©

{9

(e}

(ii) (a)

b)

(iii}

@

{b)

(©)

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has a regular programme of physical verification
of its Property, Plant and Equipment by which all property, plant and equipment are verified once
in three years. In accordance with this programme, all property, plant and equipment were
verified during the year. In our opinion, this periodicity of physical verification is reasonable
having regard to the size of the Company and the nature ofits assets. No material discrepancies
were noticed on such verification,

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the title deed of immovable property disclosed in the financial
statements are held in the name of the Company. However, original title deed is under lien with
banks for the loan facilities availed by the Company. Therefore, we could not verify those title
deed. However, we have received independent confirmation from security trustee,

According to the information and explanations given 1o us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment
(including Right of Use assets) or intangible assets or both during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there are no proceedings initiated or pending against the
Company for holding any benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property
Transactions Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder.

The inventory, has been physically verified by the management during the year. In our opinion,
the frequency of such verification is reasonable and procedures and coverage as followed by
management were appropriate, No discrepancies were noticed on verification between the
physical stocks and the book records that were more than 10% in the aggregate of each class
of inventory.

According to the information and explanations given 1o us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not been sanctioned any working capital limits
in excess of five crore rupees in aggregate from banks and financial institutions on the basis of
security of current assets at any point of time of the year. Accordingly, cfause 3(ii)(b) of the Order
is not applicable to the Company.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not made any investments, provided
guarantee or security or granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans, secured or
unsecured, to companies, firms, limited liability partnerships or any other parties during the year.

Based on the audit procedures carried on by us and as per the information and explanations
given to us, the Company has not made investments, provided guarantees, or provided security
to any other entity during the year. Accordingly, provisions of clauses 3(iii)(a) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.

Based on the audit procedures carried on by us and as per the information and explanations
given to us, the Company has not made investments, provided guarantees, or provided security
to any other entity during the year. Accordingly, provisions of clauses 3(iii}(b) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, in the case of following cases of loans given, in our opinion there
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

not regular:

Name of the entity ’ Amount ’ Remarks, if any

(in INR millions})
Duet India Hotels Private
Limited

“Gross of provision for doubtful foans- INR 5.61 milions

5.61* These loans are repayable

on demand

Further, in case of the following cases of interest free loans where there is no stipulation of
schedule of repayment of principal, we are unable to comment on the regularity of repayment
of principal, as these are repayable at the option of the borrower,

Name of the entity Amount Remarks, if any
(in INR millions)
Duet India Hotels 6.70 These loans are repayable
(Chennai  OMR)  Private at the option of the borrower.
Limited

2.00

Duet India Hotels
{Abmedabad) Private Limited |

Further, the Company has not given any advance in the nature of loan to any party during the year.

(d)  According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there is no overdue amount for more than ninety days in respect
of loans given except an amount of INR 5.61 millions {principal amount) and INR Nil (interest)
overdue for more than ninety days as at 31 March 2024. In our opinion, reasonable steps have
not been taken by the Company for recovery of the principal and interest.

Further, in case of interest free loans granted by, amounting to Rs. 8.70 millions to various
companies (details provided below), the schedule for fepayment of principal have not been been
stiputated, as these are repayable at the option of the borrower and accordingly, we are unable
to comment on the amount overdue for more than ninety days.

Name of the entity Amount
(INR in millions)

Duet India Hotels 6.70
(Chennai OMR) Private Limited

Duet India Hotels (Ahmedabad) Private | 2.00
Limited

|

Further, the Company has not given any advance in the nature of loan to any paity during the year.

(8)  According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, in our opinion following instances of loans falling due during the
year were renewed or extended or settled by fresh loans:
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BSR&Co.LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

(f)

(iv)

v}

(v

(vii) (a)

Name of the parties Aggregate amount Aggregate overdue Percentage of th?{
of loans or amount seftled by aggregate to the

advances in the renewal or total loans or
nature of loans extension or by advances in the
granted during the fresh loans nature of loans
year granted to same granted during the
(in INR millions) parties year

(in INR millions)

Duet India Hotels B 6.70 100%
(Chennai OMR)
Private Limited

Duet India Hotels _ 2.00 100%
(Ahmedabad)
Private Limited

_

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, in our opinion the Company has not granted any loans or
advances in the nature of loans either repayable on demand or without specifying any terms or
period of repayment except for the following loans or advances in the nature of loans to its
Promoters and related parties as defined in Clause (76) of Section 2 of the Companies Act,

2013 ("the Act"):.

Particulars Related Parties
(INR in millions)

Aggregate of loans/advances in nature of loan
- Repayable on demand (A)

- Agreement does not specify any terms or period of Repayment (B) NiL

- 7.20

’;tal (A+B) 7.20

Percentage of ioans to the total loans 100%

e

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of records of the Company, the Company has neither made any investments nor has it given
loans or provided guarantee or security and therefore the relevant provisions of Sections 185
and 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act™) are not applicable to the Company. Accordingly,
clause 3(iv) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company has not accepted any deposits or amounts which are dsemed to be deposits from
the public. Accordingly, clause 3(v) of the Crder is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Central Government has not
prescribed the maintenance of cost records under Section 148(1) of the Act for the services
provided by it, Accordingly, clause 3(vi) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company does not have liability in respect of Service tax, Duty of excise, Sales tax and
Value added tax during the year since effective 1 July 2017, these statutory dues has been
subsumed into GST.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
Page 8 of 15
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements

of Duet

India Hotels {Jaipur) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024

(Continued)

(b)

{vii)

(ix) (a)

(b)

{©)

(d)

(e}

M

() (a)

(b)

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, statutory dues relating to Goods and Service Tax, Provident
Fund, Employees State Insurance, Income-Tax, Duty of Customs or Cess or other statutory
dues which have not been deposited on account of any dispute are as follows:

Name of the Nature of the Amount (in Period to Forum where
statute dues INR millions) which the dispute is
amount relates pending
Income Tax Act, | Income tax J 9.00 AY 2012-13 CIT(A)
1961

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
ofthe records of the Company, the Company has not surrendered or disclosed any transactions,
previously unrecorded as income in the books of account, in the tax assessments under the
Income Tax Act, 1961 as income during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not been declared a wilful defaulter by any
bank or financial institution or government or government authority,

According to the information and explanations given to us by the management, the Company
has not obtained any term loans during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(ix)(c) of the Order is not
applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us angd onh an overall examination of the
balance sheet of the Company, we report that no funds raised on short-term basis have been
used for long-term purposes by the Company.

The Company does not hold any tnvestment in any subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures (as
defined under the Act) during the year ended 31 March 2024, Accordingly, clause 3(ix)(e) is not
applicable.

The Company does not hold any investment in any subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures (as
defined under the Act} during the year ended 31 March 2024, Accordingly, clayse 3(ix)(f) is not
applicable.

The Company has not raised any moneys by way of initial public offer or further public offer
{including debt instruments). Accordingly, clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given fo us and on the basis of our examination
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

{xi} (a}

(b)

©
(i)

(xiii)

{xiv} (a)

(b)

{xv)

(xvi) (a}

(b)

(¢

(d)

{xvii}

(xviii)

(xix)

of the records of the Company, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private
placement of shares or fully or partly convertible debentures during the year. Accordingly, clause
3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

Based on examination of the books and records of the Company and according to the
information and explanations given to us, no fraud by the Company or on the Company has
been noticed or reported during the course of the audit.

According to the information and explanations given to us, no report under sub-section (12) of
Section 143 of the Act has been filed by the auditors in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under Rulte
13 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government,

As represented to us by the management, there are no whistle blower complaints received by
the Company during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not a Nidhi Company.
Accordingly, clause 3{xii) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of public limited company and accordingly the
requirements as stipulated by the provisions of Section 177 of the Act are not applicable to the
Company. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and on
the basis of our examination of records of the Company, transactions with the related parties
are in compliance with Section 188 of the Act where applicable and details of such transactions

In our opinion and based on the information and explanations provided to us, the Company does
not have an Internal Audit system and is not required to have an internal audit system as per
Section 138 of the Act.

Section 138 of the Act. Accordingly, clause 3(xiv)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons connected to its directors
and hence, provisions of Section 192 of the Act are not applicable to the Company,

The Company is not required fo be registered under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of india
Act, 1934, Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(a) of the Order is not applicabie.

The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India
Act, 1934. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(b) of the Order is not applicable. '

The Company is not a Core investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations made by
the Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(c) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not part of any group (as per the provisions of the Core Investment Companies
(Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016 as amended). Accordingly, the requirements of clause
3(xvi)(d) are not applicable.

The Company has not incurred cash losses in the current and in the immediately precading
financial year,

There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year. Accordingly, clause
3{xviti} of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of the financial ratios,
ageing and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities,
our knowledge of the Board of Directors and management plans and based on our examination
of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to our attention, which causes
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

{(xx) The requirements as stipulated by the provisions of Section 135 are not applicable to the
Company, Accordingly, clauses 3(xx)a) and 3(xx)(b} of the Order are not applicable.

ForBSR&Co.LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

Ankorh Ak

Ankush Goel

Partner

Place: Gurugram Membership No.: 505121
Date: 29 May 2024 ICAI UDIN:24505121BKGXDP9393
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BSR&Co.LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor's Report on the financial statements
of Duet india Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024

Report on the internal financial controls with reference to the aforesaid financial
statements under Clause (i} of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

(Referred to in paragraph 2(A){g) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of Duet India Hotels
(Jaipur) Private Limited (“the Company”) as of 31 March 2024 in conjunction with our audit of the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

We have considered the material weakness identified and reported below in determining the nature,
timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of 31 March 2024 financial statements of the Company,
and the material weakness do not affect our opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit, the following material
weakness has been identified in the operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls with
reference to financial statements as at 31 March 2024;

A 'material weakness' is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal financial control with.
reference to financial statements, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement
of the company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

its business, including adherence to company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to

Ag/ Page 13 of 15




BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor's Report on the financial statements
of Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements were established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material
respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an understanding of
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our qualified opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements.

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements,
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of

Ao
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the financial statements
of Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

ForBSR&Co.LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

Aush Aok

Ankush Goel

Partner

Place: Gurugram ~ Membership No.: 505121
Date: 29 May 2024 1CAl UDIN:24505121BKGXDP8393
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Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: USS101HR2006PTC046764

Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2024

(AIF amounts are in INR milfions, unless otherwise siared)

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use asset
Inangible assets
Financial assets
Loans
Other financial assets
Income tax assets{net)
Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Financial assets
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other bank balances
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Total current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
Equity share capital
[nstruments entirely equity in nature
Other equity

Total equity

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Bommowings
Provisious
Total non- current liahilities

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Trade payabies
- total outstanding dues of micro enterprises
and small enterprises
- total outstanding dues of creditors other than
micro enterprises and small emterprises
Other financial Liabilities
Other current liabilities
Provisions
Total current liabilitles

Total liabilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

The notes from note [ to note 34 form an integral part of these financial statements

As per our report of even date attached

For BSR& Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAT Firm Registration No.: 101248W/W-100022

Jobioh Ak

Ankush Goel
Partner
Membership No.: 505121

Place: Gururgam
Date: 29 May 2024

Note

S(a)
5(b)

Ha}
S(b)
Fch
9(d)
10

11{a)
II(by
11¢c)

12
13

14(2)
14(b}

14{c)
15
16

Place: Gurugram
Date: 2% May 2024

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Duet India Hotels (Jalpur) Private Limited

DIN: 07886515 DIN: 08083337

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

9694 98 74
763.31 77325
13.84 167
353 2,52
213 -
879.75 876.18
067 220
734 548
2228 2519
4.00 -
- .07
9.96 14.49
44,25 47,43
924,04 923.61
69,97 6997
753.08 753.08
(241.99) (263.08)
581.06 559.97
30821 306.62
2.14 225
310.35 308.87
1.40 1020
247 1.29
17.50 30.51
555 734
4.48 520
1.19 023
32.59 54,77
342.94 363.64
924.00 923.61
¥
.
QIM\TA -Clwlld \-\_\ Mﬂfﬂ\}",—-—-
Simranjeet Singh Himanshi Mahajan
Director Company Secretdry

Membership No.: 43113

Place: Gururgam
Date: 29 May 2024



Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: U35101HRZ006PTC046764

Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2024
{All amounis are in INR millions, uniess otherwise stated)

Income

Revenue from operations
Other income

Total income

Expenses

Cost of materials consumed
Employee benefits expense
Other expenses

Earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and tax

Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation expense

Profit/(loss) before tax

Tax expense
Current tax
Deferred tax

Profit/(Joss) for the year

Other comprehensive income

Trems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

- Re-measurement loss on defined benefit obligations
- Income tax relating to items mentioned above
Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Total comprehensive income/{loss) for the year
Earnings/(loss) per equity share (Face value of INR 10 each)

Basic (INR}
Diluted (INR)

Note

17
18

19
20
23

2]
22

20

30

The notes from note 1 to note 34 form an integral part of these financial statements.

As per our report of even date attached

For BSR & Co. LLP
Chariered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration No.: 101248W/W-100022

Ik bk

Ankush Goel
Fartner
Membership No.. 509822

Place; Gururgam
Date: 29 May 2024

For and on behalf of Board of Directors of

For the year ended

For the year ended

Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

Rahul N Latta
Director
DIN: 07886513

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

Director
DIN: 08083337

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
234.36 233.25
8.13 3.46
242.69 236.71
14.79 13.73
4377 4571
118.13 121.82
176.69 181.26
66.00 55.45
31.63 41.63
14.73 15.91
46.36 57.54
19.64 2.09)
E (0.01)
- (0.01)
19.64 (2.08)
0.25 0.04
= {0.01)
0.25 0.03
19.8% (2.05)
029 (0.03)
029 0.03)
\ A | 1)
gim .TJ/Sl L Wawrttd 27
Simranject Singh Himanshi Mahajan

Company Secreiary
Membership No.: 43113

Place: Gururgam
Date: 29 May 2024



Duet India Hotels {Jaipury Private Limited

CIN: US5101HRZ0OD6PTC 46764

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2024
L4 amownrs are in INR mallions. wiless othenvise stated)

A. Cash Mfws from operating activities
Profil(boss) belore tax

Adjustments 10 reconcile loss before tax to net cash flows:

Depreciation and amortisalion expense

Provision for bad and doubtful dabts

Provision/ lizbilities no longer required written back
Miscellaneous non cash income

Finance costs

Interest income

Laoss on loreign exchange fluctuation (nei}

Operating cash Mows before movement in asse1s and liabiities

D £ Jin L
{Increase) / decrease in Irade recsivables
Decrease in other financial assers
Decrease / {increase) in other assets
Decrease in trade payables
Decrease in other liabtlilies
Increase in provisions
{Decreage) / increase in other financial liabilines
Cash generated irom operations
Income taxas {paid) ¢ refunded - nel
Net cash generated from operating aclivities {A)

B. Cash Mows from investing actlvities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible asseis

Interest received
Intercorporate loan repaid by related panies

Disiribution to fellow subsidianies on behalf of the parent company

Bank deposits matured
Bank deposits made

Net cash (wsed in}/ generated from invesling activities {B)

C. Cash flows lrom linancing activities
Capnal coniribution oo behalf of the parent company
Repayment of long lerm borrowings

Paymen! of processing fees and other ancillary borrowing cost

Finance costs paid

{Repayment of} / proceeds from cumrent borrowings - net

et cash used in financing actlvities (C)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents {A+B+C)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Notes 10 staterment of cash flows

i. Components of cash and cash equivalenis
Cash on hand
Balances with banks

= I CUITENE &ccounts

- in deposit aecounts (with onginal matunty of 3 months or less)

ik Movement in financial borrowings

Opening Balance

Changes from financing cash Mows
Repayment of long lerm borrowings

Payment of processing fees and other ancillary borrowing cost

{Repayment of) { proceeds from current borrawings - nel
Finance costs pad

Other now cash changes
Finance costs expense

Closing Balance

For the year ended For 1h¢ year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
19 64 (209}
1473 1591
199 030
(317} 020
- (081}
3163 I3 Te
[LHL)] (0,50}
Q13 Q37
64.27 5064
| 33 {030y
[ER:5373 365
009 025
4133 {638}
(381} zlon}
(0 12y {475}
110 036
(179} 455
56,15 2801
(101} (65
££.14 18.66
(492} {238
051 G50
- 950
150 (B4
1507 748
3107) >
1321y 611
030y 240
(0 35) .
- (1179
(28 64) (36.36)
[\2:5)] 2385
(39.14} (35.90)
291 (1.13)
2519 2632
2_128 25.19
As al As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
oiz 017
216 1702
- 800
2228 2519
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
116 82 31425
(0.35) +
. (11 719}
{285) $85
(28 6d) (36 36)
3163 4087
300.61 316.82

iii. The Cash Flows from operaling activities seclion in Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared in accordance with the Indirect Method® a5 set oul in the Ind AS 7

“Statement of Cash Flows™

The notes from note 1 to nole 34 form an | pan of these fi
As per our repart of even date anached
for BSR & Co. LLP

Chartered Accowanty
ICAl Firm Registration No 101 243W/W-100022
Ankush Goel

Pariner

Membership No - 305822

Place Gururgam
Date 2% May 2024

Fewr and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Duet Indis Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

QWTJ-L :J L

Simranjeet Sin

Direcfor et
DIN (1886513 DIN 08083337
Place. Gurugram Place Gurupram

Date, 29 May 2024 Date 29 May 2024

. W’
[EXN S ‘_\_“}__,....-
Himanshi Mahajan

Compaiy Secrefary
Membership No 43113

Place Gururgam
Cale 29 May 2024



Duet India Horels {Jaipur) Private Limided

CIN: USSI0THR2006PTCOM6T6d

Statement of Changes in Equiry for the year ended 31 March 2024
(AH anroumts are in IR mithions, urtless othenwise staed)

a. Equity share capital
Particulars Nember of shares Amoumt
As ot 01 April 2022 6,996,683 6997
Changes in equity share capital during the year : =
As at 31 March 2023 6,996,683 69.97
As at 01 April 2023 5,996,683 69.97
Changes in equity share capital dunng the year - :
As at 31 March 2024 6,996,683 69.97
b. lastruments enlirely equity in anture
As al Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amomnt
Equity component of Compulsorily Converiible Cumulative Preference Shares (CCCPS) of TNR 10 each
At the beginning of the year 10877.335 198.77 19,477,235 198 17
Add: Additien dunng 1he year - - - -
Balance at the end of the vear { &) 19,877,338 198.77 19.877.33% 198.77
Equity componend of Compulsorily Convertible Cumulative Preferemce Shares (CCCPS) of TINR 12 each
Al the beginning of the year 625,632 1196 629,612 1196
Add: Addition during the year a - - -
Balance at the end of the year (B) 620,632 11.96 620,632 1196
Equity p of Fully Compalsorily € ible Dek (FCCDs) of INR 10 each
Al the beginning of the year 54235110 54235 54235110 542 35
Add: Addivion during the year - - - -
Balance at the end of the year (C) 54,235,114 54335 54235110 541,35
Total instruments eatirely equity in natare (A+B+C) T, 742,077 155.08 74.74;.011 75308
¢. Dther equity - Refer Note 11ic)
Partculars Capital contribution on Reserves and surplus Taotal
behall of the parent Securities premiom Digivibution Lo Retained cammings
Sompacy Rt e Remeasurement off
::'::::::D:':‘ defined henefit plans
Balamce as at 01 Apnil 2022 34.72 85,66 10.21) (375,38} - [255.21)
Loss for the year i : [2.0%) = (2.06)
Remeasurement of defined benefit liability (net of rax) - - - - 003 003
Addivion during the year 240 (849 - - (6.09)
Repayment during the year - - - - -
Other reserve - - - 027 - .27
Total comprehensive boss .40 - (8.49) (181} 0.03 (T.87)
Tranzferred to retained eamings - - - Q.03 (0.03) -
Balawce a5 at 31 March 2023 3712 85.66 (8,70 {377.16) B (263.08)
Profit for the year - - - 1264 - 19.64
Remeasurement of defined benefit hability (et of 12x) - - . - nzs 025
Addition during the year 3150 - 150 - - EAr ]
Rey during the year {3 80} - - (3.80)
Total comprehensive meome 0.30) - 1.50 19.64 0.25 21409
Transferred 10 d eamnines - - - 025 (0 25) -
Bal At at 31 March 2024 36.81 £5.66 (7200 {357.27) - (241.9%

The notes from nole | 10 note 34 form an integral part of 1hes¢ financial statements.

As per our report of even date anached

For BSR & Co. LLP
Charwered Acconnianty
1CAl Firm Regisiration Mo 101 248W/AWY- 100022

Jobirhy biok

for and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Dued India Hotets {Jaipur) Private Limited

gMu’uJ(’ .C "l \—U"N‘-"‘ Fi\ﬁ:

Ankush Goel Simranjeet Sin Himarnshi Mahajan
Fartner Ihirecior Ihrecior Company Secretary
Membership Mo 509822 DIN: 07886515 DIN: 03083337 Mambership No 43113
Place: Guryrgam Place Gurugram Place Gurugram Place Gururgam

Date; 29 May 2024 Date: 29 May 2024 Dale: 20 May 2024 Date 29 May 2024




Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HRZH6PTC046764

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

la(i} Corporate information

Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited ('the Company'} was incorporated on August 28, 2006 under
the Companies Act, 1956. The Company is primarily engaged in acquisition, development, operation
and management of Hotels in India.

The Shareholders of the Company (“ACIC Mauritius 1” and “ACIC Mauritius 2”) on 30 March 2023
had entered into a Share Subscription and Purchase Agreement with SAMHI Hotels Limited (“SAMHI”
or “Acquirer”) for conditional sale of their shareholding in the Company to SAMHI Hotels Limited
(“SAMHI” or “Acquirer”). During the current year, the transfer of shareholding has been executed on

10 August 2023, resulting in SAMHI being the holding company of the Company w.e.f. [0 August
2023.

1a(ii) Basis of preparation

A.

Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind
AS) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended from time to time

notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, (‘Act’) and other relevant provisions of the
Act.

The financial statements are approved for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 29 May 2024.

Details of the Company’s accounting policies, including changes thereto, are included in Note 2(a) and
Note 2(b).

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (INR), which is also the Company’s functional
currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest millions, unless otherwise indicated.

Basis of Measurement

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis.

Critical estimates and judgments

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgments and estimates that affect the
application of Company’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income

and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are
recognized prospectively.

J




Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2006PTC046764

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties at the reporting date that have a significant
risk of resuiting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year is included in the following notes:
e Financial instruments - Note 28
e Measurement of ECL allowance for trade receivables and other assets — Note 28
e  Assessment of useful life and residual value of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets — Note 3 and 4
e Estimation of obligations relating to employee benefits (including actuarial assumptions) —
Note 20
e Recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies: key assumptions about the
likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources — Note 25
e Recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable profits against which
deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilized - Note 6

E. Current/ Non-current classification

Based on the time involved between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realization in cash
or cash equivalents, the Company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle for determining
current and non-current classification of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet.

F. Measurement of fair values

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values,
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Company has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values.
This includes a finance team of Holding Company that has overall responsibility for overseeing all
significant fair value measurements, including Level 3 fair values and reports directly to the chief
financial officer.

Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the
valuation techniques as follows:

* Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

+ Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.¢. derived from prices).

« Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data as far
as possible. If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels
of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level
of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting
period during which the change has occurred.

A




Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2006PTC046764

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

2a. Material accounting policies

1) Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be recognized as an asset if, and only if it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably.
Items of property, plant and equipment (including capital-work-in-progress) are measured at cost, which
includes capitalized borrowing cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Freehold land is carried at historical cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import duties
and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates, any directly attributable
cost of bringing the item to its working condition for its intended use and estimated costs of dismantling
and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located.
The cost of a self-constructed item of property, plant and equipment comprises the cost of materials and
direct labour, any other costs directly attributable io bringing the item to working condition for its
intended use, and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which

it is located.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in profit or loss.
Transition to IndAS

The Company had elected to use the fair value of all the item of property, plant and equipment on the
date of transition i.e. 1 April 2021, and designate the same as deemed cost.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on cost of item of property, plant and equipment less their estimated restdual

values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognized in the
statement of profit and loss. Freehold land is not depreciated.

A




Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2006PTC046764

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Al amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative period are as
follows:

Asset Management’s estimate of | Useful life as per Schedule 11
Useful Life to the Companies Act, 2013
Building 10-56 years 60 years
Computers and accessories 3-6 years 3-6 years
Plant and machinery 3-20 years 15 years
Furniture and fixtures 3-15 years 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate. Based on technical evaluation and consequent advice, the management believes that its
estimates of useful lives as given above best represent the period over which management expects to
use these assets.

Depreciation on addition/ (disposals) is provided on a pro-rata basis i.¢. from / (up to) the date on which
the asset is ready for use/ (disposed off).

2) Intangible assets
Recognition and measurement

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is recognized at fair value at the date of acquisition. An
intangible asset is recognized only if it is probable that future economic benefits attributable to the asset
will flow to the Company and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Following initial
recognition, other intangible asset, including those acquired by the Company in a business combination
and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment loss.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in
the specific asset to which it relates and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Ail other
expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill, is recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognized in
depreciation and amortization in Statement of profit and loss.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Category of assets Management’s estimate of Useful Life
Brand license 1 year

if appropriate.

A




Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2006PTC046764

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amoumts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

3) Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial
liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction price.

The Company’s financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less any attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest (‘EIR’) method.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is considered as a
prepayment and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, Loans and borrowings including
bank overdrafts

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through statement of profit and loss
are designated as such at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind AS 109 are
satisfied. For liabilities designated as FVTPL, fair value gains/ losses attributable to changes in own
credit risk are recognized in OCI. These gains/ loss are not subsequently transferred to statement of
profit and loss. However, the Company may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within equity. All other
changes in fair value of such liability are recognised in statement of profit and loss. The Company has
not designated any financial liability as at fair value through statement of profit and loss.

+ Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Loans and Borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of profit and loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in statement
of profit and loss.




Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: U5S5101HR2006PTC046764

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Classification and Subsequent measurement
Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial assets is classified as measured at:
e Amortised cost

FVQCI — debt investment;

FVOCI - equity investment;

FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its
business model for managing financial asset, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on
the first day of the first reporting period following the changes in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
desi gnated as at FVTPL:
the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and
— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
asat FVTPL:
— the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis.
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at
amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets: Buisiness model assessment

The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is
held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is
provided to management. The information considered includes:

— the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outﬂows or realising cash flows through the sale
of the assets;

—  how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business mode! (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those risks are managed; and

— the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such
sales and expectations about future sales activity.
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Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not
considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition of the assets.

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on nitial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the

Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the

financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash

flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable interest rate features;

- prepayment and extension features;

- terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features).

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and
at FVTPL losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial assets at | These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
amortised cost effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by tmpairment
losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at | These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
ALt under the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in OCIl. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in OCT are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are
investments at recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly
FVOCI represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net
gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not rectassified to profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, or it is a derivative or it is designated as such
on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses,
including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
also recognised in profit or loss.

At
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Derecognition

Financial assets

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred
assets are not derecognized.

Financial liabilities

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire.

The Company also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows
under the modified terms are substantially different. In such case, a new financial liability based on the
modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Balance Sheet
when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and
it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Modification of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets:

If the terms of a financial assets are modified, the Company evaluates whether the cash flows of the
modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the
contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this
case, the original financial asset is derecognized and a new financial asset is recognized at fair value.

If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortized cost are not substantially different, then the
modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Company
recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognizes the amount arising from
adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.

Financial Liabilities:

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified
terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished and the new financiat liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss.
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Fully Compuisorily convertible debentures

The Company has issued fully compulsorily convertible debentures (FCCDs). As per the terms of
debenture agreement, each debenture will be converted into equity shares based on an agreed conversion
formula (fixed to fixed conversion). FCCDs are separated into liability (as applicable) and equity
components based on the terms of the contract. On issuance of the FCCDs, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible instrument. This amount
is classified as a financial liability measured at amortised cost (net of transaction costs) until it is
extinguished or converted. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to equity since conversion option
meets Ind AS 32 criteria for fixed to fixed classification.

Compulsorily convertible cumulative preference shares

The Company has issued Compulsory convertible Cumulative Preference Shares (CCCPS). As pet the
terms of CCCPS agreement, each CCCPS will be converted into 1 equity share based as per the terms of
contract. These CCCPS are classified as equity since conversion option meets Ind AS 32 criteria for fixed
to fixed classification,

4) Impairment
A. Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and
debt securities at Fair value through profit and loss {FVTPL) are credit-impaired. A financial asset is
‘credit- impaired” when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit- impaired includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not
consider otherwise;

- itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptey or other financial reorganization; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses, except
for the following, which are measured as 12 month expected credit losses
- debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
- other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over
the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected

credit losses.
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Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month expected credit losses are the portion of expected credit losses that result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months).

In all cases, the maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum
contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating expected credit losses, the Company considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward- looking information.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Company
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive).

As a practical expedient, the Company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss allowance
on portfolio of its trade receivables. The provision matrix is based on its historically observed default
rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analyzed.

Presentation of allowance for expected credit losses in the balance sheet
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full} to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write- off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject
to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts
due.

B. Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed at each reporting date if there is any indication of
impairment based on internal/external factors. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest Company of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
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3)

6)

The recoverable amount of an individual asset or Cash Generating Unit (CGU) is the greater of its
value in use and its fair value less costs to disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. They are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce
the carrying amounts of the other assets of the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not subsequently reversed. In respect of other assets for
which impairment loss has been recognised in prior periods, the Company reviews at each reporting
date whether there is any indication that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Such
a reversal is made only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

Inventories

Inventories which comprises stock of food and beverages (including liquor), operating supplies and
stock-in-trade are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value, Cost of inventories comprises all
costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventory to their present location and
condition. In determining the cost, first in first out (“FIFO™) method is used. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs to make the sale.

Provisions (other than employee benefits)

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Expected
future operating losses are not provided for.

When the Company expects some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision will be
reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement is recognized when, and only when, it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is
treated as a separate asset.

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The

unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

Provisions are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date.

M




Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2006PTC046764

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

7) Contingent liabilities

Contingent liability is a possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly withing
the control of the entity or a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because
it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. The
Company does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial statements.

Contingent Asset

Contingent asset is not recognised in financial statements since this may result in the recognition of
income that may never be realised. However, when the realisation of income is virtually certain, then
the related asset is not a contingent asset and is recognized.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date.

8) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs (including exchange differences relating to foreign currency
borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs) incurred in connection
with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition or construction of an
asset which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use are
capitalized as part of cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period
in which they are incurred.

9) Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving employee services are classified
as short-term employee benefits. These benefits include salaries and wages, short-term bonus and ex-
gratia. The undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits to be paid in exchange for employee
services is recognised as an expense as the related service is rendered by employees.

Post-employment benefits

Defined contribution plan — Provident fund and Empleyee state insurance
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays specified
contributions and has no obligation to pay any further amounts. Provident fund scheme and employee
state insurance are defined contribution schemes. The Company makes specified monthly contributions
towards these schemes. The Company's contributions are recorded as an expense in the profit or loss
during the period in which the employee renders the related service. If the contribution already paid is
less than the contribution payable under the scheme for service received before the balance sheet date,
the deficit payable under the scheme is recognized as a liability after deducting the contribution already
paid. If the contribution already paid exceeds the contribution due for services received before the
balance sheet date, then excess is recognized as an asset to the extent that the pre-payment will lead to
a reduction in future payment or a cash refund.

AL
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Defined benefit plan — Gratuity

The Company's gratuity scheme is a defined benefit plan. The present value of obligations under such
defined benefit plans are determined based on actuarial valuation carried out by an independent actuary
using the Projected Unit Credit Method, which recognizes each period of service as giving rise to an
additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final
obligation.

The obligation is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. The discount rates used
for determining the present value of obligation under defined benefit plans, are based on the market
yields on government securities as at the balance sheet date, having maturity period approximating to
the terms of related obligations.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognized in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income
and are never reclassified to profit or loss. Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are recognized immediately in the profit or loss as past
service cost.

Other long-term employee benefits — compensated absences

The employees can carry-forward a portion of the unutilized accrued compensated absences and utilize
it in future service periods or receive cash compensation on termination of employment. Since the
compensated absences do not fall due wholly within twelve months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service and are also not expected to be utilized wholly within twelve
months after the end of such period, the benefit is classified as a long-term employee benefit. The
Company records an obligation for such compensated absences in the period in which the employee
renders the services that increase this entitlement. The obligation is measured on the basis of
independent actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method. Remeasurements as a result of
experience adjustments

and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in the profit or loss.

10} Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to a customer i.e. on transfer of control of the
goods or service to the customer. Revenue is net of indirect taxes and discounts.

Contract asset represents the Company’s right to consideration in exchange for services that the
Company has transferred to a customer when that right is conditioned on something other than the
passage of time.

When there is unconditional right to receive cash, and only passage of time is required to do invoicing,
the same is presented as Unbilled revenue.

A contract liability is recognized if a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Company transfers the related goods or services and the Company is under
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an obligation to provide only the goods or services under the contract. Contract liabilities are recognized
as revenue when the Company performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognized:
Room revenue, sale of food and beverages, recreation services

Revenue comprises room revenue, sale of food and beverages, recreation and other services relating to
hotel operations. Revenue is recognised upon rendering of the services and sale of food and beverages
which is recognised once the rooms are occupied, food and beverages are sold and other services have
been provided as per the contract with the customer,

11) Recognition of interest income or expense

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

- the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

- the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability.
However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If
the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

12) Foreign currency
Foreign currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Company
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions or an average rate if the average rate
approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency
exchange differences are generally recognised in profit or loss.

fo
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Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.

Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset only if there is a legally enforceable right to set
off the recognised amounts, and it is intended to realise the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or
simultaneously.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for
* temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that:
- is not a business combination; and
- at the time of the transaction (i} affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
(ii) does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences
* temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements
to the extent that the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and
* taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwiil.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable
temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognize a
deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary
differences, are considered, based on the business plans in the Company. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realized; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits
improves.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized
or the liability is settled, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets and they relate to income tax levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

14) Operating segments /“\L\
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An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with
any of the Company’s other components and for which discrete financial information is available.
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker (CODM)

Identification of segments

In accordance with Ind AS 108 “Operating Segments”, the operating segments used to present segment
information are identified on the basis of information reviewed by the CODM to allecate resources to
the segments and assess their performance.

15) Earnings per share

Basic Earning Per Share
Basic eamings per share is calculated by dividing the profit (or loss) attributable to the owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted Earning Per Share

Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit (considered in determination of basic
earnings per share) after considering the effect of interest and other financing costs or income (net of
attributable taxes) associated with dilutive potential equity shares by the weighted average number of
equity shares considered for deriving basis earnings per share adjusted for the weighted average number
of equity shares considered for deriving basic earnings per share adjusted for the weighted average
number of equity shares that would have been issued upon conversion of all dilutive potential equity
shares.

16) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, balance with banks, demand deposits with banks and
other short-term highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less.

17) Measurement of earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and tax (EBITDA)
The Company has elected to present earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and
tax (EBITDA) as a separate line item on the face of the statement of profit and loss. The Company

measures EBITDA on the face of profit/ (loss) from continuing operations. [n the measurement, the
Company does not include finance costs, depreciation and amortisation expense, exceptional items and

tax expense.
Ao
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Equity shares

Incremental costs directly attributable o the issue of equity shares are recognised as a deduction from
equity. Income tax relating to transaction costs of an equity transaction is accounted for in accordance
with Ind AS 12.

19) Leases

At inception of a coniract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

As q Lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative standalone
prices. However, for the leases of property the Company has elected not to separate non-lease
components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.

The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use assets is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the
lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Company by the end of
the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Company will exercise a purchase
option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the undetlying asset,
which is determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use
asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of
the lease liability,

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if the rate cannot be
readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Company determine its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external
financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset

leased.
A
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Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

e fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

e the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise,
lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise
an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company is
reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a
change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise an purchase, extension or
termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

Changes in material accounting policies
Material accounting policy information
The Company adopted Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendment to Ind AS 1) from 1 April
2023. Although the amendments did not result in any changes in the accounting policy themselves,
they impacted the accounting policy information disclosed in the financial statements.
The amendments require the disclosure of ‘material’ rather than ‘significant” accounting policies. The
amendments also provide guidance on the application of materiality to disclosure of accounting

policies, assisting entities to provide useful, entity-specific accounting policy information that users
need to understand other information in the financial statements.

Al




Duet India Hotels (Jaipur} Private Limited

CIN: US5S101 HR2006PTC046764

MNotes 10 the financial statemenis for {he year ended 31 March 2024
{AH amonnty are in INR miflions, nnless othenvise stated)

3 Property, plant and equipment and Right-ofuse assets

Reconciliation of carrying amount

Building Furwilures and Plant and ¥ Compaters and Total Property, plast Right-of-use Total Right-of-wse
{ixtwres ACCEssories and equipment {Land} assets

Gross carrying amount
Balance as a1 01 April 2022 G313 ZIE Tol 13 10247 79300 19300
Additions during the year - 483 176 029 288 - -
Deletrons during the year - - (0 26) - (0 26) - -
Adjustment during the year - - 136 - 336 - -
Balance a5 at 31 March 2023 9313 3.0 11.87 0.44 108,45 T91.00 793.00
Additions during the year on - 213 070 299 - -
Deletions during the year - - - - - =
Balance as at 31 March 2024 93.24 30 14,05 1.14 1i11.44 T93.00 T93.00
Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at 01 April 2022 163 026 {0 5%) 010 140 985 086
Depreciation charge for the year 399 032 164 007 602 389 989
Reversal on disposal of assets - - {0 26) - (026) -
Adjustments - - 235 - 2355 - -
Balance as at 31 March 2023 0.58 3.34 017 @M 19.75 19.75
Depreciation charge for the year 232 033 1.90 019 479 994 994
Reversal on disposal of assets - - = - E = -
Balance a5 at 31 March 2024 7.94 0.96 514 0.36 14.50 29.69 29.69
Net carrying amount
Balance as at 31 March 2023 87.51 243 8.53 .17 98.74 173,28 .73
Balance as at 31 March 2024 85.30 .08 8.81 0.78 96.94 763.31 93719
a) Refer note 12 for details of pledged assets
b) On transition te [nd AS, the Company hes elected to use fair value of all iems of property, plant and equipment and right of use asset as at | April 2021 and desigy the same as d d cost

4 Intangible assets

Reconciliation of carrying amonmi

Brand License Total
Gross carrying amonnt
Balance as at 01 Apri 2022 317 al?
Additions during the year . R
Delelions during the year - -
Balance as at 31 March 2023 017 .17
Additiens during the year - E
Deletions durmg the year = -
Balance as at 31 March 2024 017 417
A lated amorlisation
Balance s at 01 Aprdl 2022 on? a7
Amortisation expense for the year - -
Balance as a1 31 March 2023 017 017
Amortisation expenze for the year - -
Balance a5 at 31 March 2024 017 017

Net carrying
Balance as at 31 March 2023 -
Balance as at 31 March 2024 - =

a3 On weansition 16 Ind AS, the Company has elected to use carrying value of all irems of intangible assels as gt 01 April 2021 and d

Ao

4

the same as J cosl




Duet India Hotels (Jaipur} Private Limited

CIN: US5101HRIZO06PTCO046764

Notes to the linancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
AN amouns ave in INR mudlions, wnfess otherwise sioted)

5 Non-current financial assets
5(a) Loans - Non current
At antortised cost
To parties ather than related parties

{ntercorporate loans 1o others parties (unsecured, repayable on demand)
Less: provision for doubtful loans

5(b) Non-current financial assets - Others
(Unsecured, considered good)

Security deposits af amortised cost
Bank deposits (due to mature afler 12 months from the reporting date) * #

* including interest accrued on fixed deposits INR 0.20 (31 March 2023 - INR 0.01)
# includes deposits under lien amounting to INR 13.07 (31 March 2023 - [NR. 1.07)

6 locome tax assets{net)

Tax deducted at source

e

As at
31 March 2024

3.6l
(5.61}

As at
31 March 2024

0.57
13.27

13.84

As at
31 March 2024

353
3.53

As at
31 March 2023

561
(5.61)

As at
31 March 2023

0.59
1.08

1.67

As at
31 March 2023
2.52
1.52




Duet lndia Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2006PTCO46764

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
Al amownts are in INR mitfions, unfexs otherwise yiated}

&

Income tax
Az The major components of income tax expense { (income) are
Recognised in profit or loss

Current tax
Creferred tax

Recognised in other comprehensive income
Income tax on other comprehensive income

B. Reconciliation of effective tax rate (fax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Company's domestic tax rate)

Loss before tax

Tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate

Tax Effect of:

Maon recognitton of deferred raxes on remporary differences
Broughi forward losses lapsed on zccount of change in shareholding
Others

EfTective tax rafe

C. Deferred ax assets / liabilities

Deferred tax assefs

Unabsorbed business loss and depreciation

Difference in carrving amount of bomowings between books of accounts and as per [ncome Tax Act
Provizion for employee benefits

Loss atlowance for trade receivables

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets
Deferred rax assets (net)

Deferred tax asset / (liability) recognised*

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 1024 31 March 2023
- 0.0
- 001
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 M March 2023
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Ya Amount % Amonog
19.64 (2.69)
2517 494 2517 (0.53)
(274.33) (53.88) 277.03 (579
263.95 51.84 - -
(1479 (2.90) 1302.201 6.32
As at As at
31 March 1014 31 March 2023
113.79 17111
037 .02
1.41 062
214
117.71 171,75
(64.93) (65.09)
(64.93) (65.09)
5278 106.66

*The Company has significant unabsorbed depreciarion and carry forward business losses as per Income Tax Act, 1961. In view of absence of reasonable certainty of sufficient future taxable

profits, deferred tax assets has been recognised 1o the extenr of deferred vax iabilitizs only

D. Maovement in temporary differences
31 March 2024

Balance a3 at Deferred tax Balance as at
01 April 2023 differences 31 March 2024
(A&) generated but not (C=A+B)
Particulars recognised during
2023-24
(B
Deferred tax assers
Linabsarbed b loss and dep 17111 57323 113,79
DT in carrying of borrowings berween books of accounts and as per Income Tax Acl 0.02 035 0.37
Pravision for employee benefi 0.62 0.79 1.41
Loss allowance for trede receivables - 214 214
171.78 (54.04) 1771
Dreferred cax liabilities
Propenty. plant and equipment and | ible asgets (65.09) [ .16 | (64.93}|
(65.09) | 0.16 | 164.93}
Net deferred tax asser 106.66 (33.88) 52,78




Duet lndia Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: USS1HR2006PTC046764

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Al amounts ave wr INE miflions, wless otferwise staved)

31 March 2023

Balance as at Deferred tax Balance as at
0L April 2022 differences 31 March 2023
{A) generated but not {C=A+B)
Earhiculass recognised duriog
2012-23
{B)
Deferred tax assets
Unabsorbed business loss and dep 181.62 (10.51) 171,11
Difference in carrving amount of bormowings between books of accounts and as per Income Tax Act - 0.02 002
Provision for emplovee benefits 0.05 0.57 0.62
Loss allowance For rade receivables - N =
181,67 (9.92) 171.78
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equig and Imangible assets 16922 4.13 {65.0%
169.22) 4.13 {65.0%
Met deferred 1ax asset 112,45 (3.79) 106,66

E. Tax losses and unabsorbed depreciation carried forward

Tax losses for which no deferred tax assat was recognised with expiry date are as follows

Unabsorbed depreciation

Business loss
Business loss
Business loss
Business loss
Business loss
Business loss
Business loss
Unabsorbed depreciation

Ao

As at
31 March 2024
Amount Expiry Period (FY)
45212 Mever expice
As at
31 March 2023
Amount Expiry Period (FY})
47.76 2023-24
33.07 2024-25
1378 2025-26
34.36 2026-27
19.07 202728
46,68 2028-29
1127 2029-30
473 .87 Mever expire




Duet India Hotels (Jaipor) Private Limited

CIN: USS101 HR2006 PTCO46 764

Wotes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
FAH amoints are i INR millions, mifess offlenvise sared)

7 Other mon-current assets As at As at
{Unsecnred, considered goud) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Prepaid expenses 020 -
Capital advances 193

213 -

8 loventories As at As at

fralued ar fower of cost and net realisable valie) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Frod and beverages 0.66 158
Stores and operating supplies Qot 062

0.67 1.20

For current assets secured against borrowings, refer note 12

9 Finamcial assets - Corrent

9ay  Current linancial assets - Trade receivables Asat Asat

flfnsecrred) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Trade receivables

Lonsidered good @49 548

~Credit impaired - 069

Unbilled revenue *

-Considered good 0353 -

10.02 6.17
Less: Loss allowance (268) (069
734 5.43

* Net of advance from customers of INR O 29 (31 March 2023 INR Nilj

Trade receivables ageing schedule

Ag at 31 March 2024

Outstanding for following periads from date of transaction
Particulars Unbilled Revenue Leas than & |6 months 2 1-2years| 2-3years More than 3 years Tatal
mouaths 1 year

i1} Undisputed Trade receivables - considered sood 053 661 015 093 0.90 0.%0 1002

{1t} Undisputed Trade receivables - credit impaired - = - - - - =

Total 0.53 6.61 0.15 0.93 0.90 0.5 10.02

As at 31 March 2023

Outstanding lor following periods from date of transaction
g Less than & | 6 months -
i = 5 1
Particulars Unbifled Revenue mant . 1-2years| 2-3years More than 3 years Tota

(i3 Undisputed Trade receivables — considered good - 316 0,52 110 001 .69 5.48
(1) Undisputed Trads recervables — eredit impaired - = - 027 . 042 0,69

Total = 3.16 0.52 137 0.01 1.11 6.17

{a) The company doss niot have any disputed dues which are receivables as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023
{b) The Company's exposire 1o credit and currency risks, and loss allowances related to trade receivables are disclosed in note 23

(e} For receivables secured against borowings, refer note 12
(d}) Refer note 27 for related party balances

Al




Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2006PTCO46T64

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(AN amounis are in INR millions, unless otherwise sigted)

Hb)

W

9d)

1¢

Curvent finamcial assets - Cash and cash equivalemis

Balances with banks

- I CWTENt accounts

- on deposit accounts (with original maturity of 3 months or less)
Cash on hand

Current financial assets - Other bank balances

Banlk deposits with original maturity of more than 3 months bur less than 12 months

Current fEnancial assets - Others

{Uinsecnred, considered gond)

Loan to employees

Other current assets
Tinsectired, considered good)

Staff advance

Advance to suppliers

ad 10 suppliers, considered doubtful
Less. allowance for doubtful advances
Balance with statulory authorities

Prepaid expenses *

* includes current portion of non-cwrent prepaid expenses amowunting to INR (.06 (31 March 2023 - [NR Nil)

s

As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
2216 1702
- 5§00
012 017
22.28 215,19
As at Ay at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
400 -
4.00 -
Asat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
- 007
- 0.07
As at Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
oot -
476 741
020 020
{020 (0209
167 319
322 329
9.96 14,49




Tuct Indin Hotcls (Jaipur) Prisate Limited

CTN: USSISTHRIMGFTC6 764

Notes 10 the Anancied stadements o the year ewded 31 March 2024
41l smonns are in TNR millions. unbess odwrwise staicd}

11 Equity share capilal

Auvtherised share cupital
Equity sharcs of IMR 10 cach
Compubsons Convenible O Shares (CCCPS) of IMR1G cach
Compulsory Comcrbiblo Cumulative-Serigs-1 Proferomoe Shares (CCCPS) of INR 1% cach

11{a) Tssucd, svbscribed and fully paid up
Equiry shares of (MR 10 coch

a) Reconciation of the equily shares outstanding at the beginniug and ut the end of reporiing year

Equity sharcs

Al the bogmning, of the year
Add : [ssued during the 1.oor
At tbe ond of e year

b) Rights. g and r

Med (o cquity shares

Asal Arm
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Nwmber of shares Amoant Number #f shares Amount
T EQ0ANIN .00 B HLOM T H
19 BT7 348 198 77 19877 348 194 77
1,275,080 i k] 1.275 0841 pllek]
2952438 Jul.i0 24952428 Jul.in
6 206653 6997 6 5w.083 6997
6,096,643 297 6956683 69.%7
Avat At
31 March 2024 31 March 1023
Number of shares Amounc  Number of shares Amoum
6,996,681 6907 5906683 6907
6,996,683 6557 6,996,683 6997
e — T

The Campany has only enc class of oquily sharcs having the par 1ahie of IR L0 per share. Each lokder of cquily sbare is oninlod i sne ves: per share. The cquity shores ars entided i reeeive divsdend o5 and when deslared [n the event al
liquidation of he Company . Lhe holder of ¢quity sharcs will be ctited do reeeis ¢ remaining 355215 of the Compans. aller distrbytion of all preferenuial amounts The distribution will be: in proponion (o the nambor of cquity sharcs held by the

shorcholders:

<) Equity shures held by Folding company/Entity undee commen ceniral

Nume of sharchobder Asal Asm
An Miarch 2024 31 Marceh 2023
Mumber of shares Armaun Mumber of shares Ambuni
Edquity sharcs of INR 10 cuch fully paid up bold by
Druet India Hotels (Func) Private Limited. bie holding company 6.596.682 6047 6,996 652 7
SAMHI Haels led. the pltimato hodding compan: w o [L 10 August 2023 1 - . -
ACIC Mauritios 1, cotity onder commen comtrol ull 10 August 2023 f - | »
6,906,683 6497 6.9%6.683 69.97
2ede
d) Detaiks of sharchokicrs kolding mere thas 5% shares of the Compuny
Muroe of sharehslder As at As Al
31 March 2024 3 March 2023
Number of shures %o of hobdiag Number of shares % of holding
Equily sharcs of INR 10 cach
Dt India Hoaels (Func) Private Limacd, the haldiog company 6,596,681 1004 6,996 682 P
¢} Details of shures hield by promoters
Dedails of shares hild by promuters a8 2t 31 March 2024
No. of shares a1 e N No. of sheres at the % thaupe durcing
£l Pramoter Name beginning of the year Change during the yoar cnd of the vear 26 ofiNotab Shiazes the vear
1 Duset India Hotels {Pune) Prvaie Limited. the holding compam 6,596,682 - 6,996,682 1P -
2 SAMHI Hotels Limited, the ullimole holdig company ¢ [ 10 August 2023 - | 1 [ 1D
3 ACIC Maouritius 1. entity under common comrol ull 10 Auswe 2023 1 [15] - 38 =111
6.5%.683 - 65996683 PG -
—
Details of shares held by promoters us at 31 March 2023
Mo. of sharcs ai the . ) Mo. of shurcs of the % change during
Sitte: Eromotcr,Hame; heginning of the year Chaage during che year end of the year e the year
] Druct India Hecls { Puno) Private Limited, the holding company £.906,682 - 6,996, 682 [T B
2 ACIC Mauritius 1. emity under comman control ull 10 Augusi 2013 L - ] L) -
6,996,683 . 6996683 1K
—
H1ib) Instrumenis ¢nkicely equity ta aalure
As ul As ul
31 Maxch 2024 3 March 2023
Number of sharcs Ameuni Number of sharcs Amownt
Compukenh Comcnible Camulalivg Preference Shares {CCCPS) of TNR [1cach 12877303 198 17 19877333 10
C. oy T ble Cumulative-Serics-| P Shorgs (COCPS) Serics | ol INR 1% cach 639,632 1596 620,632 nw
Fully Compulsorily C ble Deb {FCCDs} S50 54233 S1.235.000 34233
Total Instrwments eplireh equity io nature T T2NTT T530K 74742077 I5L08
3) Recanciliution »f Campulsery Cenvertible Cwmlative Preference Shures (CCCRS) and Fally CampulsorBy Convertible Dek s (FCCDs) Iing ut the bupi und at the £nd of the reporting year:
Ay at Ay at
3 March 2024 31 March Inl3
Numbyr af shares Amont Numiber of skures Amaund
Compulyorily C ible C laus ¢ Prel Sharys (CCCES) of INR 10 cach (Beler (i) belaw) 19.R77.235 195 77 19.877.335 o4 77
Balance a2 a1 Lhe beginmngfond of the 1 cor
Campukory Com cctible Comulative-Series-1 Preference Shares (CCCPS) Serbes [of INR 19 cuch {Refer (i) bekow) £20.632 11 % £20.632 (R
Balance 25 al the begmmng/end of the ycar
Fully Compulsorily Comvertible Debentures (FCCDs) 342351104 54235 34235110 b Pk
Balance as a1 the begmningfend of the cor
T4.742.077 it A | T-I.T{Zé’."? TR0

AL




Duet Lsddu Hoteks (Jaipur) Private Limétced

CIN: 551N HRUMSPTCIHE TS

Noles 1o che linascial staicments for the year ended 31 March 2024

1Al amounis arc: in [NR miltigns, unless otherwise staod)
Ter i hed to Compulsorily C ible € Imtive Pref Shures (CCCPS)
{0 D idend o 0 00% per annum Each CCCPS shall got convenicd inde one cquity shame sleng with ascumulatsd di idend ino cormesponding number of couity shares and such cquiny shares be of 2 vakwe MR 1 cach on or before 20 s cars from the
date of issue. No dividend sholl bo acerued andéor shall be pos able Bl the ropayment of the bpan from am/all banks, noo-banking Mnanctaf inslitutions and s other (nancal instinion

(ii) Dividend & 0.01% per anfum. Each C Json Conyenible CumulativesSencs-l Freft Shares (CCCPS) sholl get com erted into anc equity share akng with latod div idond it ponding number of cauity shares and such cquity
shares be ol a 1akue INR. 19 cach afler 10 vears but nel exceeding 13 vcars from the dalc of issuc Each compulsorib com criibls prefrcnee share shall be converied ol the option of Company at any Hme in cach case inlo bne equity share and amy
accumolaied nnpaid dividend shall be pard al e time of comarsion. No dividend shall be acerucd andfor shall be pas able till the cepaymen of Lbe loan [rem ans fall banks. non-banking linancial ingtitulions and amy other Msancial instilution

Proference shares of both classes camy 2 prefzrential Sghl as wo dividand over equity sharchalders. The pref h % g0 Hod acquing 20y solimg nights. In the cven of liquidati L harcholders hase a pi ial ight ever equin
shorcholders 1o be rpaid 10 the: cxtent of gapital paid-up and dividend in arrears on such shares During lhc vearended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 the Company has nat deelared .‘m\ dvvidend Lo preference sharcholders

Cwempulxorily Comvertitde Cumulative Preference Shares (CCCFS) held by holding company

Name of sharchokicr A Asmt

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Compulsory Coavertible Cammlativ¢ Preference Shares (CCCPS) of INR 10 cach hel by Mumber of thares Amownt MNumbcr of shares Amaount
Duct lodia Hotels (Pune) Private Limiled. the holding conpan. 19877305 198 730 19 877333 3%
Comp -y O riible Cumudutive Preference Shares (CCCPS) Scrics-1 of INR 19 ¢ach beld by
Druci [ndia Hoaels (Puse) Private Limited. the holding company 629632 11 9611 620632 1196

20.5146.967 Zw.'l'l 20,306,967 20173

Dretaiks of shureholders holding more tham 5% Compueliserily Com ertible Camulatise Pref Sharcs (CCCPS) o the Company As al Aso

31 Murch 2024 31 Muarch 2023

Mumier of shares % of kalding Mumbcr of shares % of hobling

Compukory Convertibhe Cumulalive Preference Sharcs (CCCPS) of INR Lk cach held by
Duet Indva Hotcts {Punc) Private Limitcd. e holding compary 19 877.333 T4MFt, 19,872,335 {554

Compuksary Conseriible Cumulaniv¢ Preference Shurcs {CCCPS) Series-1 of INR 19 cach hedd by
Duci Indva Hotels { Punc) Privose Limiled, the holding company 629632 FHY% 529,612 1%

Iv Convertible Comulative Preference Shares (CCCPS) held by promaters as at 31 March 2024

No. of CCCPS at the Charige during the yess No. of shares at the % of Total Shores W chunpe during

Promoter Name

beginning of the vear cnd of the vear ihe year
I Dued [ndia Howels (Pune) Prvawe Limited. the holding compean: 19877333 - 19877353 100%5%
7 1 Cruct India Hotcls {Puncd Private Limited. ibe holding companm 629632 - 629632 1P
Details of Compulsorily Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares (CCCPS) held by promoters as at 31 March 2023
No. of CCCPS at the T No. of shares at the . % chanpe during
Siftas FromoteeNams boginuing of Lhe yeur Chungs dhrriag the year cnd of the year Ve ¢ Tatnd Sk ihe xear
1 Dued Tndia Hoaels (Pune) Privme Limited. U hokding, compan 19,877,335 - 198723335 100 -
2 Dwet India Hotcls (Punc) Privare Limited, (e holding compan. 62063 - 629612 1004, .
Detaiks of sharehalders boldiog mare thun 24 Fully Compolsary Convertible Debentares (FCCD1) of the Cempany
Fromater Name 3 March 2024 31 March 2023
Nuaber of FCCD's % holbng Nmmber of FOCDs % holding
ACI Mauritius 1. enlity under common contrel Lill 11 Adges 2023 B - 36234386 46 1%
SAMHI Hotels Limited, (he ultimane holding compam from 190 Augus 2023 26,234 386 [0
Tuct Indva Hotols {Punc} Prin gtc Limdted, the: holding, compam,. TR0, 724 3 V8000, 724 33.19%
54,235,110 1MI% 34,235,110 TN
LS ——
Details of Fully Compulsory Convertible Debentures (FCCDs) held by promoters as at 31 March 2024
it No. of FCCDs at the . N, of FCCDs m 4 % change during
Fresoler tume beginning of the vear Chaige during; the year the emd of the vear %ol Tol FECD the year
ACIT Mavrinius 1. entity under common conirel ull 1} August 2022 36234 386 (36,234,386} E ¥ -l
SaMH] Hotcls Linutcd, the uhimaie holding compans from 10 August 2023 - 36234306 36,234,386 L 00
Diact India Hawels {Fone) Privaie Limied the holding compan. IR0, 724 - 18,000,724 3% -
54235110 - 54235110 NN -
Detuils of Fully Compulvory Convertible Debentures (FCCDs) held by promoters 4s at 31 March 2023
2 No.of FCCDs at the ; g = No, of FCCDx % change during
Beamusoy: e beginniag of the year Lhimape duriop thepear the end af the yvear % of Tata) 2CCDy the sear
ACIC Manrnivs 1. cnnty ander common contral sll 100 Augus) 2023 36T 356 - 36,234 386 6% ]
Duct India Hevels (Puncy Prisoic Liouked. the olding company 1E.{M0. 724 - 1R.00W0, 724 3% -
3423000 = .‘Q.ZJF‘Iw TN -

Kb




Duct Tndia Hotels (Jaipur] Privace Limiced

CIN: USS101 HRIMG FTC 46164

Moaes to the Rnanciul statemens for the year ended 31 Mareh 2024
{All amounts are in INR millions. unboss otherniso stated)

I~

i

6

Agal Asal

Fully Compulsorily Convertibde Debentores {FCCD)-Duet India Hogels (Pune) Privaie Limited L March 2024 31 March 2023
12045315 (31 March 2023 - 121453755 of INR. 10 cach {unsecured] {noke 1) 12145 13145
1497849 (31 March 2023 - 14978490 of (MR 10 cach {umsocured} (newe 2) 1492 1498
457,500 (31 March 2023 - 4.252.500) of INR 10 cach {ungorured) (pok 3) 43 73 43 58
Fully Compulspry C: iblc Deh {FCCDW) issued to ACIC Maorivms tf SAMHI Hatck Limited

3631500 (31 March 2023 - 3,651 500) of INK 10 cach (unsecured) (note 4) 3651 Ja 51
5978928 (31 March 2023 - 5.978 928) of [NR 10 cach (unscoured) (naie 53 30 50 7
2457000 (31 March 2023 - 2 437.000) of R 10 cach {unsocurcd} {nole 6) 457 25T
DF1.005 (31 March 2023 - 9L (08 ) of TN 19 cach (unsezured) (nolc 6) 061 a8
22301500 (31 March 2023 - 22.301,500 ) of TMR 10 each (unsecored) (note 7} 22302 213102
854,450 (31 March 2023 - 834450 of (MR 10 cach (unsocured) (ooie 7 ¥ 854

238 542&

FCCD of NE 19 cach hin ims 4 cougon raie of $E1 base rato plus 300 basc poinis per anman were allolied on 03 Apal 2009 and 10 Docember 2002 1w DIH {Cyprus) SPY (Mo 2) Limited Each FCCD shall got comertad in one oqoity shaee of TNR
141 cach al the rano ol 11 pn matrity before 15 1ears from the dote of issue These FCCD s do nol cams an interest Gl the repayment of karm loans (rom Lhe banks and lnancial instination and aecordingls no interest & aceraed on these FOCEs ull
31 March 2024 These FCCD's wore wansferred by DIH (Coprust SPY (Mo 3) Lionted 10 Duzt India Hotels {Pune) Prisate Limited in April 2013 with the same lerms and condwions

FCCD of MR 19 each havmg 3 coupon raic of SBI base cae plus 300 base poinls por annem wers allatied an 16 January 2012 and 11 Junc 2012 w0 DIH {Crprus) SPY (Ma 2} Limited and DIH (Cyprus) SPY Limited Each FCCD shall getconrened
int ane equity share of TNR 10 cach 3t tbe ratio of | | e manin before 15 yoars (rom tio dakc of issug These FCCD s do nol camy any inlerest 1l the rpayment of term laans from the banks and Mmancial institwion and accordingly oo interest ie
accrued on these FOCDs Gl 31 March 2024 These FODD's wers lransferred by DIH {Cyprus) SPY (Mo 2] Limited and DIH {Cypruz) 5PY Limilod 1o Duet India Heiels (Pune} Privaio Limited on 15 May 2015 and 14 June 2014 with th same Leras
and condilions.

FCCD of TMR: 14} cach han ing a coupon rate of SBI base rake phus 300 base peinis per annwm wers allotied on 9 October 2014 and 26 March 2015 10 DIH (Cyprus) SPY (Mo 2) Limited 1 95 FCCD shall get com cricd into one oquity share of MR 10
cach before 15 vears from the daie of issoe These FOCD s do not cammy amy intersst ull e repuyment of serm boans [rom the banks and fiwancial insiinonion and accordinghy no incres! is acerued on these FCCD's dll 31 March 2024 These FCCDYs
were iransfomed by DIH (Cyprush SPY (No 2) Limited 10 Duct India Hotels { Punc) Privase Limited in 13 May 2015 and 24 Junc 2001 with the sace tems and condinons

FCCD of IMR L4 cach hining o coupon rale of SBI baso ralc plus 300 base peints per g wers allotied on 22 October 2005 15 FOCD shall et com crted into onc cguiny share of INE 18 cach on o before 10 y0ars from the date of alketmen
These FCCD's do not carry am interest nll he repaymcnd of term boans from the banks and Duancial instituion and accordingly ne interost is accrued on these FCCD's nll 31 bMarch 2024 These FCCDs were transforrod 1o SAMHI Hoaels Limited on
10 Augusi 2023 on same Llerms and conditions

FCCD of INR 18 cach han g 2 coupon rate of SB) base eato plus I base points per annum wers alloiied on 22 Nonember 2018, 31 Decerber 2019, 5 February 2019 sod 1 Mareh 2019 1.3 FCCD shall got comeried inko ane equint sharc of INR
10 gach on or bofore maturity date of 30 Sepember 2028 These FCCD's do nal carry am inkerest 1l the repayment of term toans from the baaks and financial institwtion and necordinghy mo intcrest s accriod on these FOCD's aill 31 March 2024
These FCCD's were tonsferred 16 SAMHI Hosels Limited on 19 August 2023 on same lerms and conditions

FCCD of IMR 10 cach having a coupon raic of 5Bl base rate plus 300 base painis per annum wero alloticd on 13 Mo 2009 and 28 June 2019 15 FCCD shall get convered inle one equity share of MR 10 cach on manrily on or befors 30
Seplember 2029 These FCCD s do not carmy any inkorest il the mpayment of krm loans from tho banks and (inanciol inglituion and accordingly ne intorest is ocgrued an these FCCTYs Gl 31 March 2024 These FOCCD's were ramsferred o SAMHEI
Hoels Limited an 1) Augnst 2023 on same tomms and conditigns.

FCCD of TR 1 cach having a coupon ratc of SBI basc rate plus 300 base pomis per anwum were allotied on 01 Octobor 2020 and 18 November 2020 1 5 FCOD shall get comverted inte one oquity sharo of TR 10 cach o manrin oo belors 3

Seplembor 2028 These FCCD's do nod carry any inberos! till Lbe ropaymacat of Lerm Jaans from the banks and (nancial mstinsion and accordingh na indcres! is acorucd on these FCCD's Lill 31 March 2024 These FOCDYs were rransformed w SAMHI
Hotcls Limited oo L Aueust 2023 on same torms and conditions

A




Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: Us5101 HR2006PTC046764

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Al amownts are in INR millions, unless otherwise siared)

(¢} Other equity As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Securities premium 8566 8566
Dristribution to fellow subsidiaries on behalf of the parent company (7.20) (8.70)
Capital contribution on behalf of the parent company 36.82 3702
Retained eamings (35727 (377.16)
(241.99) (263.08)
2) Securities premium As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Balance at the beginning of the year 8566 $5.66
Add : Additions made durng the year - -
Balance at the end of the year 85.66 85.66
Securitics premium is used to record the premium received on issue of shares. It is utilized in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013
b} Distribution to fellow subsidiaries on behalf of the parent company As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Balance at the beginning of the year {3.70) 020
Addition during the year 1.50 (8 49)
Repayment during the year x =
Balance at the end of the year (7.20) {8.70)

The company had provided inter-corporate loans to its fellow subsidiary companies. Since, these loans are interest free loans and also repayable at the option of the

borrower, hence these loans given to fellow subsidiaries have been recognized as a distribution to fellow subsidiaries on behalf of the parent company.

As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2013
¢) Capital contribution on behalf of the parent company
Balance at the beginning of the year 37.12 34.72
Addition during the year 3.50 240
Repayment during the year (3.80) -
36.82 37.12

Balance at the year end

The company had obtained inter-corporate loans from its fellow subsidiaries. Since, these loans are interest free loans and also repayable at the option of the borrower,

hence these loans have been recognized as a capital contribution on behalf of the parent company.

d) Retained carnings As at As at

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Balance at the beginning of the year {377.16) (375.38)
Profit/{loss) for the year 19.64 (2.08)
Other adjustment - 027
Transter from other comprehensive income 025 0.03
Balance at the end of the year {357.2T) (377.16)
¢) Other comprehensive income As at As at

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Balance at the beginning of the year - -
Remeasurements of defined benefit lizbility (net of tax) Q.25 003
Transferred to retained eamings (0.25) (0.03)

Balance at the end of the year

Remeasurements of defined benefit liability comprises actuarial gains and losses
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Duet India Hodels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: 55101 HR2406PTCO46764

Notes o the lmancial scatements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(AN amonnts are in INR mitlions, waless osherrise siamed)

14{a)

14(b)

1Hch

15

Non curvent provisions Asat Asatl
31 March 2024 31 March 2033
Provision for employes benefit
Gratuity (refer note 207 Da7 127
Compensated absences {refer note 20) 147 093
214 1225
Curreni Financial Liabilities
Current financial liabilities - Borrowings Asat As at
{Secured) 31 March 2024 M March 2023
Crerdraf facilities from bank * - 985
Current of long-term t {refer note 12) 1.40 035
1.40 10,20
Overdrafi facility from banks
Sanclioned Amount Interest rate charged per amoum j
R I
LUTE (INR Miflions) 31 March 2024 | 31 March 2023 epsyment Terms Securly details
IndusInd Bank Limited 10 00 @ 25%] 0 30%| Repavable on d d. [Same as menlioned in note 12
Currend finavicial liabdities - Teade payables As at As al
31 March 2024 A1 March 2013
Trade payables
- 1otal outstanding duss of micro enterprises and small enterprizes (MSME}) 247 129
- tota) outstanding dues of greditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 17.50 3051
£9.97 31.80
[a) Refer tonote 3¢ for diselosures under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2005 (MSMED)
(b) Refer 10 note 27 for related party balances
() The Company's exposurs 10 curtency and liquidity risks related 1o irade payables is disclosed in note 23
Trade payables ageing schedule
As 2t 31 March 2024
Duistanding for following period from due date of transaction
Particulars Acerued Expenses Less than | vear 1-3 years 2-3 years Maore than 3 vears Total
{i) MSME - 247 - - - 2.47
(113 Oihers 1015 613 17 013 0,90 17.50
Total 10.15 8.60 ®17 015 0.0 19.97
As at 31 March 2023
Outsisnding for following period from due date of tiom
Particulars Accrued Expenses Less than | vear 1-2 years 2-3 yenrs More than 3 vears Total
(i) MSME = 1.29 B ; 5 1.20
(i1} Drhers 14 39 1347 024 0.3l 2100 30.51
Total 14.39 14.76 0.24 0.31 2.10 .80
The Company does nol have any dispured dues which are payable as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023
Current financisl liabilities - Others As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Employee related payables 555 1M
5.55 7.34
Other current liabilities As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Advance from customers 27 121
Securiry deposits payable oIl 013
Stalutory dues payable 1 64 116
4,48 520
Current provisions As at Azt
31 March 2024 A1 March 2023
Provision for employee benefits
Gratuity (refer note 2¢) 041 alo
Compensated absences trefer note 20 078 013
1.19 0.23




Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: USS101HRZ006PTC046764

Motes to the Anancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(i amourts are in (INE molltons, unless otherwise siared)

17 Revenne from operations For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Sale of services
- Room revenue 176.18 17683
- Food and beverage revenue 47.01 4398
- Ligoor and wine 5.59 6.14
~ Recreation and other services 5.73 6.30
134.56 233.25
The conract liabitities primarily relate to the advance consideration received from customers for which revenue is recognized when the performance obligation is over! seTvices
delivered. Advance collection is recognised when payment is Teceived before the related performance obligation is satisfied. This includes ad received from the customer
towards rooms / restaurant/ banquets. Revenue is recognised once the performance obligation s met i.e. on room stay/ sale of Food and beverage / provision of banquet services
Excess of revenue over invoicing is recorded as unbilled revenue R gnised in the $ of Profit and Loss is same as the contracted price
As at As at
Contract Liabilities 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Advance from customers 273 1.91
The amount of Tevenue INR 1.91 (31 March 2023 INR 6.31) recognised in the reporting period was included in the advance from customers balance at
the beginning of the penod.
Trade receivables M 548
Note: Considering the nature of business of the Company, the above trade receivables is converted imio cash within the same operating cycle.
i3 Other income For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
1 d from fi ial azsets at amonised cost
- on bank deposits 0.70 0.50
Provisions/ liabilities no longer required wrinien back az 0.20
Miscellaneous income 426 276
3.13 346
19 Cost of materials consumed For the year ended For the year ended

Consumption of food and beverages

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

Inventory at the beginning of the ysar 1.58 1.00
Add : Purchases during the year 13.27 14.31
Inventory at the end of the year (0,66} (1.58)

14,79 13.73

20 Employee benefits exp For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Salaries, wages and bonuog 3432 3815
Centribution 10 provident fund and other funds (refer ‘a’ below) 169 1.54
Compensated absences (refer b’ below) L60 0.67
Siaff welfare expenses 6.16 5.35

43.77 45.71

a. Defined contribution plans

The Company makes contributions, determined as a specified percentage of employse salaries, in respect of qualifying employees towards Provident Fund, Labour Welfare Fund and

Employees’ State [nsurance, which are defined conmibution plans. The Company has no obligations other than to make the specified contrit

The contributions are charged to

profit or lass as they accrue. The amoumt recognised as an expense towards contribution to Provident Fund, Labour Welfare Fund and Employees’ State Insurance for the year

aggregated o [NE. 1.69 (31 March 2023 - INR. 1.54),

b. Compensated absences
The principal assumptions used in detenmining the obligation are as given below:
As at Asg at
Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
e e
Disecounting rate p.a 715 7.39
10.00 10.00

Salary growth rate p.a
Refer note below for mortality assumptions

G




Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2006 PTCO46764

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
{dHf amounis are in INR millions, wifess onferwse sigied)

¢. Defined Benefit Plan

Crratuity

The Company has a defined benefir grajity plan. Every employee who has completed five years or more of service gets a gratuity on departure at 13 days salary (last drawn salary)

for each complered ysar of service. The scheme s not funded.
These plans typically expose the Company to actuarial risks such as: investment risk, inherent interest rate risk , longevity risk and salary risk

{nvestment risk

The present value of the defined benefit pian liability (denominated in Indian Rupee) is calculated using a discount rate which is determined by reference to market yields al the end of

the reporting period on government bonds.

Interest vare risk

The defined benefit obligation caleulated uses a discount rate based on government bonds. [f bond yields fall, the defined benefir obligation will tend to increase.

Longevity risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and afier their employment. An

increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan's liability

Satary risk
Higher than expected incrsases in salary will increase the defined benefit obligation

The following tables summaries the components of net benefit expense tecopnized in profit or loss and amounis recognized in the Balance Sheet for the said plan:

a) Expense recognised in Statement of Prefit and Loss

For the year ended For the year ended
Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Current service cost 018 0.4
Interest cost 0.10 0.09
Total expenses recognised in the S of Profit and Loss 028 0.53
b) R ts recognized directly in other comprehensive income

For the year ended For the year ended

Particulars 31 March 2024

Net actuarial gain/(loss) recopnized in the year

31 March 2023

- changes in demographic assumptions (0.45) .

- changes in financial assumptions 00 001}
- changes in experfence adjustments 018 (0.03)
Amount recognized in other comprehensive income 0.25) (0.04)

¢) Change in present value of benefit obligation

For the year ended For the year ended
Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Fresenr value of obligation as a1 the b ing of the year 137 123
Current service cost 018 0.44
[nterest cost 0l0 009
Actuanial (gainVloss {0.25) (004}
Benefits paid {0.32) (0.25)
Present value of obligation as at the ¢nd of the year 1.08 1.37
d) A ts to be recognized in Balance Sheet
As at As at
Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 1.08 1.37
Met liability recognized in the Balance Sheet (1.08) (1.37)
Non-current 0.67 127
Current 041 0.10
v} The principal assumptions used in determining the gratuwity benefit obligation are as given below
As at Ag at
Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
% %o
Discounning ratz p.a. (1) 715 139
Salary growth rate pa {id) 10.00 1000
(i) The discount rate is generally based upon the market yields available on Government bonds at the accounting date with a term that matches that of the
(ii) The salary growth rate 1akes account of inflarion, senionty, promotion and other relevant factors on long tenm basis
As at As at
Demographic assumptions 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Retirement Age (years) &0 58460
Mortality Table 100% of TALM 100% of TALM
(2012-143 (2012-14)
Withdrawal Raie Yo e
Apes
Up to 30 Years 82
From 31 to 44 years 82

Above 44 years A& 82

vi) The Company best estimate of expense For the next year is INR 0.21 {31 March 2023 - INR 0. 70}




Duet India Hotels {Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: USS10ITHR2006PTC046764

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(A amontis are i INR miflions, unless otherwive viated}

Sensitivity analysis

R: bly possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have
affected the defined benefil obligation by the amounts shown below.
31 March 2024
Lncrease * Decrease *
Discount rate (0.5% movement) (0.01) 041
Salary growth rate {0.5% movement) 201 (001}
31 March 2023
locrease * Decrease
Discount tate (0.5% movement) (0.0 042
Salary growth rate (0.5% movement} 002 (0.2}

Although the analysis does not rake account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an approximation of the
gensitivity of the assumptions shown

* Positive amount represents increase in provision
*Negative represents d in provision

{Weighted average duration of defined benefit obligation is 1.05 years (31 March 2023: 5.82 years).
Sensitivity changes due to withdrawal and mortaliry are not material and hence not disclosed

There was ng change in the method and ptions used in preparmp the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

£) Maturity profile of defined benefit obligati As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Year
0-1 year 041 o.10
1-2 year 0.51 0,14
-3 year 0.09 0.14
-4 year 0,02 013
4-5 year - 012
More than 5 year 0.05 0.74

108 1.37
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(Al amaunis are in INR milirons, urless otherwise stated)

21

22

23

24

For the year ended
31 March 2024

Finance costs

Interast expense on financial lizbihities carmed at amortised cost

For the year ended
31 March 2023

- Loans from bank 3019 3862
Other finance costs 144 301
31.63 41.63
Depreciation and amortisation expense For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment {refer note 3) 479 602
Drepreciation of right-of-use assers {refer note 3) 9.94 93¢
14.73 1591
Other expenses For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Repair and mainienance
- Building 1.72 313
- Machinery 5.62 458
= Others 029 113
Brand, license and marketing fees 3709 36.29
Communication 1.52 1.24
Consumption of stores and supplies 12.79 1454
Contractual labour 116 507
Securily services 1.74 1.76
Equipment hire charges 0.53 035
Printing and stationery 1.0l 1.13
Insurance 122 1.62
Legal and professional fees 425 5,08
Loss on foreign exchange fluetuation (net) 0.15 027
Management and incentive fees 10.55 1.20
Payment to auditors * 146 5.51
Power, fuel and water 1993 2215
Provision for bad and doubtful debts 1.99 0.30
Rates and taxes 258 7.20
Travelling and conveyance 190 1.26
Miscellaneous expenses 433 1.76
118.13 121.82
*Payment to auditors (excluding taxes)
As Auditors
Statutory audit 127 1.34
Reimbursement of expenses 0.4 .07
Oriher services 005 3.60
Ldg 5.51
Earnings/(loss) per share (EPS)
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the loss for the year atiributable to equity shareholders by the weighied average number of equity shares outstanding during the year
Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the loss for the year attributable to the equity share¢holders by weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year plus the
weighted average number of equity shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilunive potential #quity shaces into equity shares
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Net profit/{loss) artributable to equity shareholders 19.64 {2.08)
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year for calculation of basic EPS 67,537,747 67,537,747
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year for calculation of diluted EPS 67,537,747 67,537,747
Nominal value of equity share (INR} 1] [
Basic eamingsfiloss) per share {[NE) 029 {0.03)
Diluted samings/(loss) per share {INR}) 029 {0.03)
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Reconciliation of net profiti{loss) attributable to equity shareholders {basic earnings per share)
Net profit/{loss) after tax as per Statement of profit and loss 19.64 {2.08)
Net profit/(loss) attributable to equity sharehelders 19.64 {2.08)

Calculation of weighted average ber of shares for basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2024

Number Weighted Average
Equity Shares 5,996,683 6,996,683
Instruments entirely equity in nafure
Compulsonly Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares 19.877.335 19.877.335
Compulsorily Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares -Series - 629,632 629,632
Fully compulsory convertible debentures 40034097 40.034.097
57,537,747 67.537.747

Ao
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Calculation of weighted average number of shares for basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2023

Number Weighted Average

Equity Shares 6,996,683 6,996,683
Instruments entirely equity in nature
Compulserily Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares 19,877,335 198377335
Compulsorily Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares -Series -1 629,632 629,612
Fully compulsory convertible debentures 40,034,067 40,034,067

67,537,747 67,537,747
Contingent liabilities and commitments
{fter the extent not provided for}

As at As at
31 March 2023 31 March 2012

Commitmenis
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and others, and not provided =
for

The company does not have any contingent liailities and commitrents as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023

Operating Segments

The Holding Company's Chief Executive Officer has been identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM?) w.e.F 10 August 2023, since he is responsible for all major decisions
w..L the preparation and execurion of business plan, preparation of budget, planning, alliance, merger, acquisilion and expansion of any new facility. Till 10 August 2023, the Directors
were identified as CODM. CODM has examined the Company's performance from product and geographic perspective and has identified a single business segment i.¢. "Developing and
running of hotels", hence no specific disclosures have been made

A. Information about products and services
The Company primarily deals in cne business namely "Developing and running of hotels", therefore product wise revenue disclosure is not applicable.

B. Information about geographical areas
The Company provides secvices to customers in [ndia. Further, there are no non-current assets located outside India.

C. Information about major customers {from external customers)
The Company does not derive revenue from one customer which would amount to | per cent or more of the entitys revenue
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27 Related party disclosures

a) Related party and nature of related party relationship where control exists

Description of relationship Name of the Party

Ultimaie holding company Asiva Capital Investments Company, K.5.C P (till 10 August 2023}
Ultimate holding company SAMHI Hotels Limmited (w.e.F L0 August 2023)

Halding Compamy Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

Entity under common control ACLC Mawritius ! {1l 10 August 2023)

b) Other related parties with whom transactions have taken place

Description of relationship Name of the Party
Fallow Subsidiary Duet India Hotels { Ahmedabad) Private Limited

Fellow Subsidiary Duet India Hotels {Banglore} Private Limited
Fellow Subsidiary ACIC Advisory Private Limited

Fellow Subsidiary Duet India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Private Limited
Fellow Subsidiary Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

Fellow Subsidiary Duet India Hotels {Hyderabad) Privale Limvited

during the current year/previous year

¢) Related party tr

Holding Company / Utimate Holding Company Fellow Subsidiary

Particulars
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Repayment of equity p of intercorporate loan
Duet India Hotels {Pune} Private Limited - 3.00 -

Equity p of intercorporate loan {loan taken)
Duet India Hotels {Pune) Private Limited - 540 -

2 t fees expenses
ACIC Advisory Private Limited - - 10.55 1.20

Reimb t of expenses paid
SAMHI Hotels Limited 010 = = =
SAMHI IV Busi Hotels Private Limited 0.12

Reimt t of expenses received
SAMHI Hotels Limited 0.95 - = =

Legal & Professional Fees
ACIC Advizory Pavate Limited - - - 1.60

Other cocrent liabilities
Accured interest repaid to related parties
Duet India Hotels { Banglore) Private Limited - =

Capital contribution on behalf of the parent pany (loan given)
Cuet [ndia Hotels (Pune} Private Limited 350 -

Capital contribution on behall of the parent pany (loan repayment)
Dwiet [ndia Hotels (Banglore) Private Limited - - 0.30 -
Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited 3.50 -

Distribotion on behalf of LUk Holding Company {loan given)
Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Privaie Limited - - - 649
Duet India Hotels ( Ahmedabad) Private Limited - - - 12.01

Distribution on behalf of Ultimate Holding Company (loan repayment received)
Duet India Hotels (Ahmedabad) Private Limiled - - 1.50 10.01

Lntercorporate loan repaid by related parties
Duet India Hotels {(Hyderabad) Privare Limited - - - 9.50

Advance to vender
ACIC Advisory Private Limiled - - 1.00 7.76
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d} Related party balances as at year end

Holding Company / Ulmate Helding Company Fellow Sabsidiary
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024_| 31 March 2023

Particulars

Capital contribution on behalf of the parent pany
Duet India Hotels (Banglore) Private Limited - - 1281 13.11
Dhiet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited 2401 24.01 - -

Advance to vendor
ACIC Advisory Private Limited - - 379 176

Trade Receivables
SAMHI JV Busi Hotels Private Limited - - 0.12 -

Fully Compulsory Convertible Deb es (FCCDs)
Duet [ndfa Hotels { Pune) Private Limited 180.01 18001 -
ACIC Mauritius | - 36234 - -

SAMHI Hotels Limited 362.34 - -

Distribution on behalf of Ulti Holding Company
Duet India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Private Limited - - 65.70 6.70
Duet India Howels {Ahmedabad) Private Limited . - 050 2.00

As at 31 March 2023, Asiya Capital Investments Company, Kuwait {the Ultimate Holding company till 10 August 2023}, has gven corporate guarantee 10 the lenders of the Company
against a borrowing facility taken by the Company and its fellow subsidiary companies. The i posure of the uly holding company is Rs, 250.00

Ln addition to the transactions mentioned above:

a} There is a security by way of cross collateralisation of cash flows offerred by the Company in respect of borrowings obtained by its fellow subsidiaries from banks.
b) Duet India Hotels { Pune} Private Limiled has provided fixed deposit for an aggregate amount of INR 250,00 (plus capitalized interest} to Indusind Bank as lien.

¢) Also refer to note 34

A




Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

CIN: USSIIHR2005PTCO46764

™aoies t¢ the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
{AH amourits are it INR miflions, wless othenrise stated)

1%  Financial instruments — Fair values and risk mamapement
A) Financial instruments by categery and fair valoe

1

The below table izes the judg and esti made i deermining the fair values of the financial i that are {a) recognised and d at Fair value and (&) measured at amortised cost and for which
fair values are

disclosed in the financial To provide an indication about the reliabiliry of the inpuls used in determining fair value, the Company has classified its fimancial insirumenits into the three levels prescribed
under the accounting standard

31 March 2024
Particulars Level af Hierarchy Fair Valwe Through Fair Value Through Crber Amvoriised Cost
Profit and Loss {FVTPL) Camprehensive Income
(F¥TOCh
Finamcial assets
Non-current financial assets - Others - 1384
Curreni financtal assets - Trade receivables - 734
Current finaneial assels - Cash and cash equivalents . 2228
Current financial assets - Others - -
Taidal financial assets - 4346
Financial Wabilities
Non-curren fi | lizbilities - Borrowanos 2 - 308 21
Current financial liabilities - Borrowings 2 - 140
Current Financial habilinies - Trade payables - 1597
Current financial liablities - Others - 553
Tatal financial liabilities - 335.13
31 March 2023
Particulars Level of Hierarchy Fair Valoe Through Fair Valuwe Throwgh Other Ameortised Cost
Profit and Loss {iFVTPL) Comprehensive Income
{FVTOChH
Fimancial assets
Man-curreni financial asseis - Others - 1 67
Current financial assets - Trade recenables - 548
Current finangia! assets - Cash and cash equivalents 2519
Current financial assets - Others 007
Total financial assets - 3141
Financial liabifities
Non-current financial liabilities - Bommowings d - 306,62
Current financial lizbilities - Borrowines 2 - 1020
Current financial liabilites - Trade [es - 31.80
Curreni financial lizbilities - Others . 134
Total financial liabilities - 35586

The managemeni assessed that the fair value of cash and cash squivalents, other bank balances, irade receivables, security deposits. margin money deposits, unbilled revenug, retention money, trade and ather payables and
other current financial assets and liabilities approximate their camying amounts fargely due 1o the short-lerm maturities of these instruments

[nterest raies pa t b es (b From banks! 2re equivalent 16 the market raie. Such bormowings are a1 floating rams which are reset at short inlervals Accordimgly, the camying value of such bomowings
approximares far value

Fair valuation of noa-current financial assets and tabililies has been disclosed 10 be same as carmying value as there is no significant difference between carrying value and fair value
The company has not done any hedging Iransactions during the year

B) Measurement of (air values
There are ng transfer between Level | Level 2 and Level 3 duning the year
C) Financial visk management

Risk managensent (ramework
The Company’s activilies expose it b a vanety of inancial risks: market risk including foreign sxchange rigk and interest rale risk). credit risk and hquidiry risk

The Holding Company™s Chief Financial Officer under the directions of the board of d impl i 1 nisk policies across Ihe Company The Company's nisk policies are estabhshed to
identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company. 1o se1 appropnate risk limils and controls, m monitor risks and adherence to limils in arder to minimize the financial impact of such risks. The risk management policies

and sysiems are reviewed regulary o reflect changes m market conditions and the Company’s activities
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1, Market risk

Markel risk is the risk that the changes in market prices such as foreign #xchange rates and inisrest rates, thay will affect the Company's expense or the value of its holdings of financial ¥ The obj
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within accepiable parameters, while optimising the rerum

. Intewest vave risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash lows of & financial instrument will Auctuale because of changes in marker inierest rates The Company's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest raies relates
primarily 1o the Company's bommowings obligations with floaling interesl rates

The Company evaluaies the interest rates in the market on regular bagis 1o sxplore the opuion of refinancing of the borrowings of the Company. Moreover, majority of the Company's borrgwings are primarily linked 1o floating
imterest rales, thereby rasuliing in the adj of s b g COSEE in lind with the marken imeres)

of market risk

Expesure 10 imteresi vale risk
The following table d the sensilivity toa bly possible change in interest rates on that portion of keans and borrowings affecied With all other vanables held constant, the Company™s profit before tax is affected

through the impact on fAeating rate bommowings, as follows

Particulars

Encreacef decrease in Efect sn profit (loss)

basis points before tax
3 March 2024
Term loans from banks and financial instituions 100bp (282)
Term loans from banks and financial institutions ~100bp 282
31 March 2023
Term loans from banks and financial institutions 1000y 13.18)
Term loans from banks and financial institutions -100bp 118

The assumed movament in basis poinis for the interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market environment, showing a significanily higher volatility than in prior years

B, Corvency risk

Currency risk for the Company is the nisk that the future cash

on account of payables for

effects of Auctuation in the prevailing foreign

h. rales on Uis financial position and cash flows Exposure anses pimarily due to

Tets and other expanditure wall fluciae because. af changes in foreign exchange rates The Company is eecposed 10 the

rate i the finctional and other The

Managemen evaluates forelgn #xchange rale sxposure ansing frorm forsign currency Iransachions on perigdic basis and follows appropriate sk management policies

Exposure to curreacy rick

The Company's ¢xpositre i foreign currency nsk at the end of the reporting year are as follows:

31 March 2024
Currency Arnaund in foreign Amouni in INR
curremcy (in milligms)
Finamcial Kabdiries
Trade payables USD 003 227
31 March 2023
Currency Amound i foreign Amount in INR
curvency (m millions)
Financial limbiiries
UsD 06 479

Trade payables
Sensitivity snalysis

hening (weak

A bly possible

y of the [ndian Rupee apains] foreian currency at year end would have affecied the

of financial instruments d

d in Foreton cumency and affecied equiry and

prodin of loss by the amounts shown below This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interes] rates, remain constant and ignores amy impact of forecast sales and purchases

Change in USD rate  Effect on  profivi(bess)

before tax
31 March 2024 190bp - G0z
-190bp 0oz
31 March 2023 100bp - 005
-190bp 003
2. Credit risk

Credit risk is the nsk of inaneal loss 1o the Company il"a customer of counterparty 10 2 financial wstrument fails w meet s contractual obligations The carryimg amount of financial asseis represent the maximom credil rigk

expasure The Campany has credit policies i place and the exposures to these credit nizks are monitored on 1 ongoing basis

The Company’s policy is to place cash and cash equivalenis and other bank balances with banks and financial institution counterparties with good credit rating

The Company has given secunty deposits to various stalulory authorities and to vendars for securing services from them and rental dep

) ace datt Further, the Company has other recervable balances

Py

owmsianding as at year end from vendors againgt 5ost reimbursement The Company does now expect any defaull from these parties and accordingly the nisk of default is peglipble or nil

i

lly ior eredi h before entering, into contract Credn limis are

In respect of credit exp from trade receivables, the Company has established a credit policy under which each new customer is
blished for wach L d regularly and any sales dinp those limits require approval from the appropriate authority
The Company establishes an all for i theal d credit losses in respect of Irade receivables The management uses 2 simplified approach for the purpose of computation of expected credit loss for

trade recervables In monnonng custorer credu nsk, tuslorners are grouped according to thew credit characteristics, including whether they are an individual or legal énnty, their geographical locauon, industry and existence of

previcus financial difficulbes, if any

There are no significan concentratons of credit rish within the Company

loss

on trade

bles as at 31 March 2024 is 0-180 days 3 6%%, 180-265 days 27 4%, 366-347 days. 53 87%, 348.729 days 91 12%, »=730 days 100%

The provision matrws used for

Reconciliation of boss allowamce provision

For the year ended For e year ended
Trade receivables 31 March 2024 3 March 2023
Opening balance 069 0%
Change in loss allowance | 9% 030
Clozing balance 168 0,65
Reconciliaibon of provision fes doubtfud loans
For the year ended For the year ended
Trade receivables 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Cpening balance 561 5al
Change in loss allowance = - AL
Clasing balance 561 561 J
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3. Liquidity risk

Liquidity rsk is the risk that the Campany will encounter difficulty i mesting the d with ing fi I liabiiities that are sertded by delivering cash o another financial asset The Company's approach 10 managing
hquidity i to ensure, a5 far a5 possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity 1 mest 15 lizbilisies when tey are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring usacesptable losses or nisking damage te Company's
Fepatanon

M itors rolting F of the Compary’s liquidity position and cash and cash equivalents on the basiz of expected cash flows to ensure it has suffi cash Lo meet operational needs. Such forecasting takes into
consideration the Company's debt refi planz, undh itted borrowing faciliies and covenan complhance
Uliimate responsibility for hquidity nsk management rests wath the board of directors, which has established an appropriate liquidity risk I fi k for the of the Company™s shom-term, medium term

and long-term Funding and liquidity managemen réquirsrmnis

{a} Exposure to liquidity risk

The fpdlowing are the i d 1ties of i ial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are gross and undi d and excluding furre J miberast p

31 March 2024 Carrying amount ‘Total -1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years More than 5 years

Non-derivative financial abilities

Mon-current bormowmgs 308 21 31680 - 1938 126 34 17108

Current borrowings 140 140G 1.40 - . -

Current trade payables 1997 1997 1997 - E

Other curtent financial liabitines 335 555 555 - - -
3513 343.72 692 19.38 126.34 171.08

Contractual cash Mlows

31 March 2023 Carryiwg amoont Total 0-§ year 1-1 vears 2-5 years More than 5 years

Non-derivative financiad liabilities

MNon-curment borrowings 306 97 3R 56 - 035 96 65 121 36

Current barrowings 985 985 985 . - -

Current rade payables 3180 3180 80

Other current fancial liabilities 134 T34 T34 - - -
358,96 367.55 48.9% %] 96.65 221.%

Al
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29  Capital managemeny
The Company's policy is fo maintain a strong capital base 50 25 16 maintan invesior, creditor and market confidencs and (o susiain fulure development of the business
The Board of Directors of the Holding company seeks 1o mai a balance b the higher rstums thar might be possible with higher levels of borrowing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital

position. The Company monitors capital using loan 1o value {LTV) method (o ensure that the loan 10 value does not increase beyond 63% on vy givan reporting date at Group level Loan includes the cuerent and non-current
borrowings and Yalue refers to the marker ¢apitalisation of the Group

The Company is not subject o d capnal requi

As a part of its capital managemen policy, the Company did not have any conlinuing defaulis in the repayment of loans and interest Far the curment year The loan covenants have been tesied for Duer India Hotels (Hyderabad)
Privale Limited, Duet [ndia Horels (Chernai) Private Limited, Duet lndia Hotels {Jaipar) Privare Limited, Duet India Hotels {Pune) Privare Limived, Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Privare Limited, Duet India Holels
{ Ahmedabad) Private Limited on consolidated basis and there have been ne loan covenant defauits during the current year and there has been no intimanon from the hank for recalling any loan facility.

30 Disclosures under Micro, Small and Mediwm E: A 4 Act, 2006 (MSMED) Asal As al
31 March 2024 - 31 March 2023

Dues 10 micro, small and medwm suppliers

The amounis remaining unpaid to micro and small suppliers as at the end of the year:

Principal 247 I 29
Intersst = .

The amount of interes] paid by the buyer as per the Micro Small and Medium Enterprises Develop Act, 2006 (MSMED Aci, 2006} - -
The amounis of the paymenis made to micro and small supphers beyond the appointed day during each accounnng year

The amount of interest due and payable For the year of delay in making paymeni {which have been paid but beyond the
appointed day during the year) but without adding the interest specified under MSMED Act, 2006

The amount of interes! accrued and remaining ynpaid at the end of each accounting year

The amount of further interest ramaining due and payable svan in the succeeding yvears, until such date when the interest

dues as above are actually paid Lo the small enterprise for the purposs of disall as a deducuble expenditure under B -
Secnon 23 of the MSMED Act 2006

The management has identified ises which have provided goods and services o the Company and which qualify under the definition of micro and small enterprises, as defmed under Micro, Small and Medium
Enterpnises Development Act, 2006 {(MSMED) Accordingly, the disclosure in respect of the amounts payable (o such enterprises as at 3) March 2024 and 31 March 2023 has been made in the fnancial statements based on
infs i ived and available with the Company

3 Ratles as required by Schedude 111 1o the Comparies Act, 2003:

Ratio o times/ % Numerator Densminator 31 March 2024 31 March 2023 | Intrease! decrease | Reason for Variance

(@) Current Ratic In times Total Cutrent Assels Total Currem Lizbilivies 136 87 57%| Dunng the year with the revival of]
business operalions, the ratio has
improved

(b} Debt-Equiry Rang In times Tolal Borrowinas Total Equity 053 057 6% Since the variance is less than 25%%
there is no requirement to disclose
the reason

(¢) Debt Service Coverage Ratio |In times Eamings before finance Finance costs paid + Principal 1.70 133 1 1%|Since the varance is less than 25%

costs, depreci and epay af long term there is no requirement 1o disclose|
amonigation and tax t ing: the reason

(d} Rewmn on Equity Ratio In%a Profiv{Loss} for the year | Awverage Toral Equiry 3 449 - 4% S64%|Increase is due to increase in profiy
duning the current year

() Trade Receivables wmover | In limes Revenue from operations | Average Trade Receivables 16 62 3044 20%%|Smce the vanance s less than 25%5

raho there 15 no requirement to disclose
the reason

(f) Trade payables tumover ratio |In times Purchases + Chher expenses| Average Trade Payables 510 321 59%%|Decrese in wade payables tumover
rato is on agcoum of decline i
avergas Irade payables during the
[ncrease in nel capital tumover ratio

{e Met capital tumover ratia [ 1n times Revenue from operations | Average working capitel 108 68 (3093) -451% fm&“m:l;fu;‘:[“xm' i
year,

{h) Net profit ratie In% Profit{Loss) for the year |Revenue from aperations 8 57% 089 1039% mﬁﬁcﬂ:ﬂz"g””’ in peofil

i) Retum on Capital employed  [In% ProfiLoss) bafor inecest gf:;ff;;‘:;‘;’gjﬂ:;ﬁ”e Net 5 %% 451% 2% zﬁhf:u‘:;:l:‘::”’ n profit

The Company has not presented the followng raros due to the reasons given below:

{1) Inventory lumover ralio: Since the propartion of such inventory value is insignificant to tolal assets
{2} Retum on investmienis Since the Company invesis surplus lemporary funds in shon-ierm bank depasits and the income g d from it 15 insignifi 1o todal revenie

32 MNew standards and inlerp i nod yet adopted

Ministry of corporate affairs {* MCA") notifies new standard or amendments to the existing
MC A has not notified any new standards or amendmenis 16 the existing s1andards applicable to the Company

A

Jards under Comp {Indian A i Jards) Rules as issued from tme to ime For the year ended 31 March 2024,
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33  Other stamtory information
(i) The Company does not have any Benam property, where any proceeding has been iniated or pending against the Company for holding any Benami properry under the Benami Transactions [Protbition)
Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder
(i1} The Company has not besn declared as wilful defaulter by any bank or financial Instituiion or other lender
{ii) The Company has not entered into any iransactions with companies struck off under section 2438 of the Companies Act, 2013 or secuon 560 of Companies Act, 1956
{iv} The Company doss not have any transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income dunng the year in the tax assessments under the lncome Tax
Act, 1961 {such as, search o survey or any olher relevant provisions of the Incame Tax Aci, 1961

{¥) There are no charges or satisfaction vet (o be registered with ROC beyond the stawtory penod

{vi} There are no funds which have been advanced or loaned or invested {sither from bomgwed funds or share premium of any other sources or kind of funds} by the Company o or in any other persons or
entifies, including forsign emities (*Inermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or atherwise, that the [ntermediary shall direcily or indirecily tend o invest m other persons or
entilies identified in any manner wh {"Ultimate By iaries™} by or on behalf of the Company or provide any guarantee, secunity oc the like (0 or on behalf of the Ullimate Beneficiaries

{vii} Thete are no funds which have been received by the Company from any persans or entities, including foreign entities (“Funding Panies™), with the und ding, whether ded in writing or othervise,
that the Company shalt direcily or indirecily, land or ivest in pther persons or enfifies identified in any manner whalsoever {“Ultimate Beneficiaries™) by or on ‘behalf of the Funding Party or provide any
guarames, security of the like from ot on behalf of the Ulimate Baneficiaries

{vii} The Company and the group is nol a CIC as per the prowsions of the Core | Comp (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016

{ix) The Company has not traded of invesied in Crypto cumency or Vinual Curmency during the financial year

{x) The Company has complied with number of layers prescrbed under the Companies Act, 2013

(i) The company has complied with the number of Layers prescribed under section 2(87) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies (Restriction on number of Layers) Rules, 2017

(i) The Company has used the borrpwinge from bank and fnancial institution for the specific purpose for which it was (aken

(%11} The Company has not entered into any scheme of which has an g NpACt O CUrrEnL or previous financial year
(it} The Company has not revalued ns property, plant and equipment or mangible assets or both during current or pravious year
{xiv} The Campany is not required to submit qn fy rerums or with banks during the curmeni or previous year

{xv} The title deeds of immovable property disclosed in the financial statements are hald im the name of the Compary. However, anginal title deeds are under [ven with lender
{xvi} The Company has not granied any loans or advances in the nature of loans to promoiers, directars, KMPs and the related parties {as defined wnder Companies Act, 2013) either severally or joindly with any other person

that are repayable on demand or without specifying any terms or peniod of rep except for loans granted as disclosed below.
Current period Previous periad

Type of borrewer Amauni %% of Torad Amount Quistsnding % of Total

Owisianding (Nominal ameunt)
Promalors - - - i
Direchors - - - -
Related Parties 720 100% B 70 1007
Tetad 1.1 100% .70 1004
The abave loans have been disclosed as distribuiion to Fellow subsidiary on behalf of the parent company

34 Social security code
The Cade on Sacial Secunty, 2020 (" the Code") relating to employes benefits received Presidential assent on 28 Sepiember 2020 The Ministry of Labour and Emplovment has relezs+d draft rules for dhe Code on |3 November
2020 and invited suggestions from the stakeholders The dare of implementanan of the Code is yet to be notified by the G and when impl d will impact the contributions by the Company towards benefils such
a5 Provident Fund, Gratunty etc. The Company will assess the impact of the Code and give effect in the financial staiements when the Code and Rules thereunder are notified

The notes from noie | to note 34 form an integral part of 1hese financial siatements
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